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Accessibility

If you would like a copy of this annual
report in an alternative format, please
contact the communications team:
Email:
GRECCG.NHSGreenwichCCG@nhs.net
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Welcome

Welcome to the 2019/20 and final Annual Report and Accounts of NHS Greenwich
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).
The year has been one of transformation and progress, and we would like to thank
colleagues and partners who have worked hard throughout the year, in the face of
sustained pressures. Covid-19 ‘coronavirus’ has brought very different demands on
our health and care systems and we are privileged and thankful for the unwavering
care and commitment demonstrated by colleagues and partners, in an
unprecedented set of circumstances. The voluntary effort in Greenwich has been
heartening and we are incredibly proud of the response to coronavirus in Greenwich.
In the year, the six south east London CCGs agreed to merge into one south east
London CCG from 1 April 2020 and activity this year has focused on implementing
this along with our strategic priorities. The merger is an important stepping stone in
our local implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan and will bring about
improvements to health and social care for people in south east London. We have
been moving towards greater integration for many years now in the NHS, this is our
best chance to make it happen to truly benefit local people, and this offers hope for
the future NHS.
There have been many achievements in the last twelve months across Greenwich
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The development of local primary care, in
particular Greenwich GP practices networking into six Primary Care Networks from
July 2019 will offer local people more care closer to home, regardless of their
practice. Our strengthening partnership in the Healthier Greenwich Alliance is
crucial, along with other Greenwich-based relationships and partnerships, and our
commitment to these is reflected in the new CCG structure that we are building
together. Our organisations coming together will be supported by our shared culture,
and desire for the best health and care services and outcomes for local people, who
frequently travel beyond borough boundaries.
We are delighted that we have maintained our good rating from NHS England and
NHS Improvement, and our rating reflected some of the greatest improvements in
the country. Particularly important is our public participation rating for which we saw
improvements from green good, to green star outstanding, evidence of our
commitment to put local people at the heart of our decision-making. Thank you to
everyone who worked with us on this crucial priority.
Our small grants programme which we launched with the NHS Greenwich Charitable
Trust has delivered real impact to services supporting child and adolescent mental
health and we have appreciated the partnership from our local voluntary and
community sector. We are delighted to extend the programme both in terms of
finance and reach this upcoming year, to include projects that support the
achievement of all our strategic priorities.
In performance, the CCG has achieved its financial duties for 2019/20. This Annual
Accounts show a surplus of around £3.6 million, which is in line with the CCG’s
financial target for the year. This is as a result of the sustained determination of our
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local and South East London finance and contracting teams; and support by all in the
CCG in developing and implementing a savings scheme which has delivered a
quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) of £12.19 million in year.
Our providers’ performance against national and local standards has remained
similar to last year, with the health system experiencing similar pressures. Focused
work has taken place to improve all, in particular dementia and access to
psychological therapies.
As we merged into the south east London CCG on 1 April 2020, some of us began to
say goodbye to our current roles and organisation. Much however will remain the
same, even considering the global pandemic. The same health needs, health and
care services, the same populations, colleagues and relationships. We will retain our
shared purpose for our populations to have the best health and care throughout their
lives and our ambition for high quality, effective and sustainable health and care
services. Thank you to the Greenwich people, partners, member practices and
colleagues who share this motivation.

Neil Kennett-Brown
Managing Director
June 2020

Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Chair
June 2020
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Section 1 Performance Report

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Who we are
We are a membership organisation made up of 32 GP practices (at 31 March 2020)
in Greenwich, spanning one GP federation. From July 2019 our practices networked
into six primary care networks. We plan, buy and monitor most of the health services
Greenwich people use including:







primary care
acute (Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust)
community (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
mental health (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
learning disabilities (Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust)
voluntary sector – various.

We work with a range of partner organisations in Greenwich to improve health and
wellbeing.
NHS England commissions other primary care services such as pharmacists,
opticians, dentists and some specialist health services. The Royal Borough of
Greenwich commissions public health, health visiting and school nursing services.
We are part of the Greenwich Health & Wellbeing Board, where we work with elected
councillors and other partners, including community and voluntary sector partners
such as Healthwatch Greenwich and METRO GAVS, to make sure local services
meet our communities’ needs.

Who we are from 1 April 2020
Creating a single CCG for south east London
From 1 April 2020, there is a new single CCG for south east London - NHS South
East London Clinical Commissioning Group.
The aim of the new CCG is to create a commissioning system that:




enables us to make decisions for the people we serve and commission
services at the scale at which they are best planned and delivered whether
that is very locally, at borough level or across south east London,
brings about greater integration of health and social care commissioning
around the wider needs and wellbeing of the population and whole person,
shifts commissioners and providers towards collaboration and collective
responsibility for patient outcomes, service delivery and living within
available resources.

Alongside these changes we will establish provider and commissioner alliances in
each borough (called local care partnerships) and at a south east London level, as
the platform for developing the integrated care system (ICS).
Developing the proposal to merge
In response to the vision set out in the Long Term Plan and to help us to achieve
more integrated, high quality and sustainable services for south east London’s
residents, the six CCGs in south east London began the programme to reform our
commissioning system in February 2019.
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The programme involved a period of several months’ engagement with stakeholders
and partners across south east London. We held or attended over 120 meetings
alongside other communications conducted with residents, member practices, NHS
providers, Local Medical Committees, Healthwatch, local government leadership,
Health and Wellbeing boards, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the wider
Integrated Care System (ICS) partnership, other London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnerships (STPs) and NHS regulators. This engagement helped
to shape our proposals to recommend the merger of the six current CCGs into one
new South East London CCG.
The CCG governing bodies agreed to support the proposals for merger at their
September meetings and the member practices voted in favour in October 2019.
NHS England and Improvement approved the proposal to merge in October 2019.
Our staff are our most important asset and are all affected by the merger. In
November 2019, we began a 90 day consultation with CCG staff on the proposed
new structure to support the successful operation of the new CCG.
The new operating model, approved by the CCG governing bodies, is designed to
make it possible for the south east London CCG and all its parts to work as ‘one
team’ wherever individuals are based in the system. It also aimed to ensure that
proposals stayed within the management cost envelope set by NHS England and
Improvement.
In south east London, the ability to operate at multiple scales simultaneously is
critical. Our new CCG represents a package of changes in our commissioning
approach that will allow us to respond to the very different needs of our local
populations at neighbourhood or borough level; work in even greater partnership with
our local authorities in each borough; and commission services for those patient
pathways that span the entire south east London integrated care system (ICS) - with
providers that serve many if not all of our boroughs

Challenges in Greenwich
Main areas of poor health
In Greenwich, like many other areas nationally, we have a growing and ageing
population with growing health and care needs.
According to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Greenwich, the major
causes of death in Greenwich are cancer and cardiovascular diseases, especially
ischaemic heart disease and strokes. However, overall death rates from these
causes are improving, meaning that fewer people are dying prematurely from these
diseases. Respiratory diseases, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
(COPD), are the next biggest cause of preventable deaths in the borough. The
biggest burden on morbidity (poor health) is mental ill health, followed by
musculoskeletal health conditions such as back pain, arthritis and other joint
conditions.
The JSNA priorities include six major conditions, six risk factors and seven
underlying determinants of health as shown in the following table.
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With our partners, we have identified the key underlying determinants of health that
impact on the health of people in Greenwich. These are shown in the boxes called
“causes of the causes” in the patient diagram above. There is ample evidence that
social and environmental factors, including employment, income level and the
suitability of housing have a big influence on health.
The second main row in the table then shows the major risk factors for disease for
the conditions listed in the boxes below, called major conditions (Greenwich’s
avoidable burden of ill health). We describe these conditions as the avoidable
burden of ill health, as with the right help and support; for example, to give up
smoking or supporting people back into employment, the development of some of
the diseases may be prevented.
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The diagram provides a summary of some of the main areas in which health is
poorest in the borough and some associated factors (such as poverty and obesity)
when compared with England.
It shows where improvements are being seen (for example, in early deaths from liver
diseases), as well as where outcomes are getting worse (such as male healthy life
expectancy).
Reducing health inequality
To deliver high quality care and improve the health of our local population, we need
to take action to promote equality and reduce the gap in health inequalities for all our
communities.
We use the JSNA to map out the needs of our population, so we can target our
resources and services to best effect. We systematically consider the impact of our
work on reducing health inequalities. We develop equality impact assessments to
support the delivery of our programmes, and make sure that our public engagement
approach considers equalities information.
Over the last year, our work to narrow the gap in health inequalities included:
 Partnership work with the Royal Borough of Greenwich (RBG) to roll out and
embed the Live Well Greenwich programme to meet the needs of some of the
most vulnerable people and most disadvantaged in the borough. Live Well
Greenwich offers advice face-to-face, over the phone and online. Live Well
Coaches are now based in all six Primary Care Networks where they can
11







provide information on a wide range of issues that impact on health and
wellbeing, including debt and finance, work and training, housing and social
isolation. The training offer for Primary Care staff to support signposting into
Live Well, and build social prescribing capacity continues to develop, and over
15% of the 1,000 workforce that have undertaken basic Make Every
Opportunity Count training are from Primary Care.
The BeSure blood pressure programme checked over 10,000 people in
Greenwich, and identified hundreds or resident or registered patients who
were unaware they had raised blood pressure, as well as raising community
awareness of the risks of high blood pressure, and identifying nearly 80
people with potentially life threatening Atrial Fibrillation (AF).Support for the
Public Health community blood pressure outreach initiative which identified
hundreds of residents with previously undiagnosed hypertension and atrial
fibrillation and linked them into treatment in primary care.
Working with RBG in a successful initiative in primary care to reduce the
incidence of TB cases in Greenwich. This involved the implementation of a
latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) testing scheme in primary care, identifying
and treating patients with undiagnosed TB from countries with a high
prevalence of the disease. TB case numbers and rates in Greenwich continue
to decline and the decline was predominantly due to pre-entry screening,
changes in migration pattern, TB services contact tracing, as well as efforts to
encourage eligible patients to undergo screening for latent TB infection testing
and treatment.
More targeted work through the GP Federation to address inequalities in
uptake of tobacco control, NHS Health Checks and Long Acting Reversible
Contraception (LARC) services.

Greenwich Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2024
The multi-agency Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out the partnership approach
to health and wellbeing for the next five years. It was agreed by the Health and
Wellbeing Board in September 2019.
This strategy places a focus on two key aspects of health – mental health and
wellbeing, and healthy weight. These were also priorities in the previous health and
wellbeing strategy (2015-2018), chosen both because they are important to all
sections of our community in their own right, and because by making progress in
these areas we can build resilience and help prevent or delay the onset of wider
health problems in our residents.
We also focus on two vital ways that we are changing how we work in the Royal
Borough of Greenwich to best support the health and wellbeing of our residents.
By developing and improving the Live Well Greenwich system, our approach to
‘prevention at scale’, we can bring all of the assets in our borough
together to help our residents live healthier, happier lives.
Secondly, we are committed to developing a more integrated and coordinated
system of health and social care in Greenwich. We aim to improve the way our
residents experience our services, streamline and modernise our processes and
gain the best value for money for every pound we spend on our health
12

and social care offer. These changes in our approach to working together across the
south east London health and care economy will ensure the robust implementation
of the NHS Long Term Plan and new national Government plans dealing with social
care and prevention.
Improving mental health and wellbeing
The Royal Borough of Greenwich is adopting the Thrive LDN approach to improving
mental health and wellbeing, working across six key areas: individuals and
communities taking the lead, tackling mental health stigma and discrimination,
maximising the potential of children and young people, a happy, healthy and
productive workforce, mental health services available when and where needed, and
working towards zero suicide.
Improving healthy weight
We will support people and communities to achieve and maintain a healthy weight,
by helping people to eat more healthily and be more active. Working across the lifecourse, we will focus on breastfeeding and infant nutrition within the vital early years
stage and healthy food and physical activity messages into adulthood and later
life. By engaging key settings such as schools, health services, workplaces and
community organisations, and using all our levers across the system, we will help
social and community environments support the healthy weight agenda through
improved physical activity and food related opportunities, and will ensure that people
receive the help and information they need, when they need it. We will also focus on
how the physical environment across Greenwich can be made as healthy as
possible, enhancing active journeys and healthier food options to create an
environment where the healthier choice can be the easier one.
Live Well Greenwich: embedding a prevention approach
We will continue to develop Live Well Greenwich as our whole system prevention
approach uniting efforts across the system, and maximising opportunities for
prevention through existing strategies, infrastructure and services; bringing them
together in a single comprehensive approach working at individual, community and
population levels. This work is being led by the Live Well Greenwich Partnership
Board. Live Well Greenwich is underpinned by key local infrastructures, including the
refreshed Greenwich Community Directory (online support); brief interventions
through outreach work; the Live Well telephone support line; Live Well Coaches who
provide face to face support; voluntary and statutory services. This infrastructure is
being developed through the partnership support and with feedback and insight of
people using the services to provide a more cohesive and systematic approach to
prevention. Live Well Coaches will continue to be based in all six Primary Care
Networks, so accessible to patients across Greenwich, increasingly supported by
volunteer Live Well Champions who can promote Live Well in Primary Care and
connect patients to local community assets and support.
Health and social care development
The health and social care services available to people in Greenwich seek to
achieve a range of important outcomes for our population. They seek to:
 Help people to live long, healthy lives, and to stay active and independent
throughout their lives
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Provide care, support and effective treatment for people who experience
illness or injury, be that sudden and unexpected or a longer-term health
problem or disability.
Support people needing specific medical care at particular times in their lives,
for example maternity care for pregnant women and care for new born babies
Provide home care, rehabilitation, residential and nursing care when people
need additional support.
Provide compassionate, dignified and tailored care to people nearing the end
of their lives and their friends and families

In Greenwich, we plan to work increasingly closely together across our organisations
to improve the integration and co-ordination of our services, including prevention,
primary care, community care, acute, mental health and social care services in the
borough. We will work together to respond to national policy in a locally appropriate
way, improving the way our services wrap seamlessly around local people in ways
that meet their needs effectively and provide a positive experience of care.
We will change and strengthen the way that health and care services are both
commissioned and provided, adopting increasingly collaborative and integrated
approaches to designing and managing the system.
Much of our work will remain organised at a very local level and within the borough
boundary, but we will also work increasingly closely with neighbouring boroughs in
south east London where it makes good sense to do so as part of the wider health
and care economy in this part of London.

2019/20 achievements
Implementing the Greenwich Commissioning Strategy: Transforming our
health and social care system 2018-2022

The Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Strategy published in autumn 2018 sets out
a local framework for changes to the health and care system. The NHS set out a
series of new commitments and improvements for healthcare services through the
NHS Long Term Plan which was published early in 2019. We welcomed the
commitments and priorities in the 10-year Long Term Plan, which support the
Greenwich strategy and provide additional investment and national focus on
implementation.
A summary of the Greenwich strategy document sets out a plan on a page and the
objectives for Greenwich stating the intention to follow national policy building on
local strategies while working closely with partners.
The strategy sets out four priority areas;
 To prevent illness and help our population to live well
 To strengthen local support for people with mental illness, including children
and young people
 To better meet the needs of frail people with care closer to home, an
integrated urgent care system, and stronger community-based care
14



To improve the prevention, detection and treatment of cancers for our local
population

The strategy also focuses on two transformational areas of primary and integrated
care which are critical enablers for the sustainability of health and care in Greenwich.
In the year, we have seen notable progress against each of the strategic priorities
and enablers.

To prevent illness and help our population to live well

We set out a number of activities to help people stay well. Firstly, we said we would
support the implementation of Live Well Greenwich (our whole system approach to
prevention) including the implementation of a new social prescribing service in all GP
Practices. In 2019/20 new funding was made available to the new Primary Care
Networks so, alongside funding from the Royal Borough of Greenwich, Charlton
Athletic Community Trust were commissioned to deliver the social prescribing
service. By April 2020, every GP Practice will have a social prescriber guiding people
to the help they need, for example addressing money worries or housing issues, or
finding other people to connect to if lonely or isolated or help to eat healthily or
become more physically active.
The newly refreshed and merged (adults, children and families) Greenwich
Community Directory is now live in a ‘beta testing phase’ before an official launch.
This means that local people, professionals and others can find the right help for
themselves or others being able to and navigate information and advice more easily.
We have also continued to focus on increasing Make Every Opportunity Count
training uptake including within primary care and we have now have over 1,000
people who are trained. This means everyone understands how to signpost to Live
Well Greenwich, making every opportunity count. We have also trained over 200
community members in the Royal Society of Public Health (RSPH) Understanding
Health Improvement, with some becoming Live Well Champions (volunteers).
As part of our work, we set out to roll out the Vital 5 initiative. Vital 5 is a concept that
embeds the collection of key measures (blood pressure, smoking, alcohol, body
mass index (BMI) and mental health score) and associated brief interventions as part
of everyday clinical practice, in particular in the acute hospital, but which can be
applied elsewhere. Progress has been limited to date but the Live Well Greenwich
infrastructure will support and link to this programme.
Finally, we are working to promote the early identification of people at risk of Type 2
diabetes, through community awareness programmes, NHS Health Checks and,
opportunistically through the Primary Care Diabetes Prevention Programme. As part
of this work we have been working with the GP Federation to identify people who are
at risk and invite them to National Diabetes Prevention programme. The outcomes of
this work are promising.

To strengthen local support for people with mental illness, including
children and young people
Adult community and crisis services
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Greenwich CCG and RBG began exploring an alliance model to improve outcomes
for the mental health and wellbeing in adults in 2019/20 and have secured funding
for a mental health alliance project manager to support the development of this
model. In January 2020 the inaugural Greenwich Mental Health Alliance Board
(GMHAB) was convened, to look at pathways with service users with enduring
mental health needs, crisis, housing, blockages and barriers. The GMHAB was a
great start to shaping our alliance approach for mental health in the borough.
Children and young people’s mental health
Greenwich was successful in its bid for the children’s mental health trailblazer to
become one of the 25 national trailblazer sites for mental health support teams in
educational settings, strengthening mental health support in schools.
Crisis services for children and young people were strengthened and now include a
9am-10pm, 7 days a week, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service crisis
(CAMHS) service delivered by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust. This includes direct
access to A&E from a mental health nurse and a crisis line, staffed by (CAMHS)
nurses from 5 -10pm, 7 days a week, available to children and young people already
known to the service.
The Greenwich Charitable Trust small grants programme was launched in 2019 with
a focus on supporting voluntary and community initiatives to improve mental health
and children and young people’s services locally.
Adults with learning disabilities
South east London funding was agreed for the “accommodation model” hosted by
south east London transforming care to enable more specialist placements for
people with learning disabilities to be made.
A successful learning disability ‘Big Health Day’ was held in October 2019.The
theme was ‘Being healthy, having fun’. Service users, carers and families from
across Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham took part in the full day of fun and health
information. Over 350 people took part and over 100 participated in the mini health
checks on offer.

To better meet the needs of frail people with care closer to home, an
integrated urgent care system, and stronger community-based care.
Ageing and staying well
Charlton Athletic Community Trust (CACT) were awarded the contract to deliver an
Integrated Live Well infrastructure service from October 2019. Age UK ‘care
navigators’ have been added to the community service for those who are frail.
The Greenwich Physical Activity and Sports strategy – ‘Greenwich Get Active’ – was
approved with an implementation plan agreed. All six Greenwich Primary Care
Networks (PCNs) have signed agreements, and finalised mobilisation plans with
‘Live Well Greenwich’ to deliver social prescribing.
Integrating care in urgent / acute settings
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Services were made available in 2019/20 to ensure that routes out of hospital
include home and bed-based options and provide assessment, intermediate care
rehabilitation and appropriate home care. These include:
• Take home and settle – for vulnerable patients whose discharge can be
expedited with some support to settle them at home
• Eltham Community Hospital (ECH) beds – for patients requiring rehabilitation or
sub-acute care.
• Discharge to assess – for patients who require a social care assessment and
cannot return home to receive this assessment
• Community Care Plus – for unwell patients requiring on-going intravenous
antibiotics / breast drain management / therapy input provided at home.
End of life care (EOLC)
Coordinate My Care (CMC) is an innovative NHS service that records a person’s
wishes, and then shares them, electronically with all the medical professionals who
are involved in their care, so in the event of a medical emergency those wishes are
at the centre of their care. CMC was re-launched in Greenwich in September 2019
and by January 2020, 573 records were on the system.
Dedicated training sessions were held for Care Home Primary Care providers and
Primary Care Network colleagues to facilitate its use in Greenwich.
The first EOLC training event was held for GPs in July 2019. The training
programme, which includes bi-annual events, has been commissioned for two years.

To improve the prevention, detection and treatment of cancers for our
local population
Prevention
The ‘Greenwich Tobacco Treatment Service’was re-modelled with a focus on high
risk groups and those with high smoking prevalence, such as pregnant women,
patients with long term conditions and smokers in contact with mental health
services.
HPV vaccination for boys age 12-13 in schools was introduced in September 2019.
Early detection
All general practices in Greenwich are taking part in the national cervical screening
text reminding service. Practices have been part of the cervical screening
awareness campaign and made use of social media as a way to communicate to
patients about cervical screening. HPV (human papilloma virus) testing for cervical
screening has also been rolled out.
Working closely with the pathology team at Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (LGT)
we have gone live with faecal Immunochemical test (FIT) for colorectal low
risk symptomatic patients, across Greenwich, Bexley and Lewisham.
There is now a triage at point of referral for lung cancer patients meaning many are
having their CT scan before their first outpatient appointment so they avoid
unnecessary visits to hospital.
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Cancer Research UK delivered cancer awareness ‘Train the Trainer’ training to 15
representatives of local community groups in Greenwich, including churches,
veterans association and social prescribers. The format of the training allows
participants to cascade information onwards and deliver cancer awareness training
themselves.
Living with and beyond cancer
Lewisham and Greenwich Trust have rolled out the ‘Macmillan Advice and Guidance
service’ (MAGS), a single point telephone number for patients, families, carers and
GP practices.

Integrated care

Our partnership working
The local partnership, now called the Healthier Greenwich Alliance (HGA), was
established in the summer of 2018. Membership includes: Greenwich CCG (Chair);
the Royal Borough of Greenwich (Public Health, Adult and Children’s service
Directors); Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust;
Greenwich Health (GP Federation); Clinical Director representatives of the local
Primary Care Networks (PCNs); Healthwatch Greenwich; and the community and
voluntary sector represented by METRO GAVS. Terms of reference for the HGA
have been refreshed in line with the borough-based board. HGA partners have been
an important part of implementation journey for PCNs as key stakeholders and
system partners.
The Alliance has now been meeting for a year and provides an opportunity for joint
discussions of relevant issues between partner organisations. An agreed
implementation plan for all priorities supports our work and is monitored by a
dashboard of key performance indicators.
The Alliance has set out three areas as focus for work, including commissioning
children and young people’s services (in particular those children and young people
who experience poorer health and life chances), and continuing to develop the
Mental Health Alliance. The HGA is in itself a vehicle to deliver transformation of
services in priority areas. Through collaboration across Greenwich, Bexley and
Lewisham work is underway to progress transformation of services in planned and
unplanned care, mental health, children's services and primary care. This is
supported by organisational development across the system to support the changes
proposed.
The NHS Long Term Plan makes considerable and frequent references to integrated
care being central to the future success and delivery of the NHS, setting out that all
of the NHS moves to Integrated Care Systems by April 2021. It proposes that ‘an
ICS brings together local organisations to redesign care and improve population
health, creating shared leadership and action’.
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Primary care at scale
The NHS Long Term plan sets out a vision to break down barriers between providers
so they offer a seamless service to patients. The plan sets out the case for enhanced
primary and community care services with significant investment into primary care to
support the development of new PCNs covering populations between 30,000-50,000
people. In July 2019 the new national five-year Primary Care Network (PCN)
contract went live.
We now have six PCNs covering all of the GP registered population of Greenwich.
Each PCN elected a GP Clinical Director who takes leadership responsibility for
developing their network to focus on the health and wellbeing of their population.
Funding has been made available to support this development and the CCG is
providing bespoke support within this area along with facilitated workshops to start
developing relationships between primary care, acute and community care providers,
local authority and the voluntary sector who are key to the PCN development.
As part of this new contract, additional new roles are being funded to support the
workforce in general practice. These new roles include Clinical Pharmacists; Social
Prescribers; Physiotherapists, Physician Associates and Paramedics. We have
already rolled out social prescribers to each PCN (through Charlton Athletic
Community Trust) who are contracted as part of the Live Well Greenwich
programme managed by Royal Borough of Greenwich Public Health and our PCNs
are in the process of recruiting clinical pharmacists.
As part of the national PCN development programme, one PCN in Greenwich is
participating in NHS England’s Population Health Development Programme which is
a 20 week intensive programme in the use of Public Health Management techniques
to enable PCNs to understand their local population and co- design services to meet
their needs.

19

Activity report 2019/20
Medicines management

Greenwich Medicines Management Team (MMT) worked on five overarching
programmes in 2019/20. These support the implementation priorities within the
commissioning strategy in its delivery of quality, safety and therapeutic outcomes
including financial controls.
1. Supporting medicines optimisation in practices
The Medicines Management team visited all GP practices in Greenwich and supported
them with their own prescribing data to implement the medicines optimisation work plan.
The team supported practices with over 400 pharmaceutical and pathway queries.
2. Supporting patients with medicines
The team has supported the implementation of NHS England’s guidance on items
not suitable for prescribing as well as low priority prescribing. 14 Patient and public
engagement events have been undertaken to support better understanding of
medicines.
3. Commissioning medicines
The South East London Area Prescribing Committee (SEL APC) supports safe and
effective prescribing across the SEL health economy. 14 new drugs applications and
prescribing recommendations were reviewed by the team. The team also worked
extensively to roll out a number of clinical pathways to improve referral management
process as well as optimisation of medicines.
The team supported 13 Individual Funding Review Panels which considers each
individual case for the clinical evidence and individual circumstances. In doing so, we
ensure equity for Greenwich patients. In addition all NICE approved Technology
Appraisal Guidances have been assessed at SEL APC and approved within the
specified time.
4. Medicines in care pathways
The team has provided technical expertise on care pathways including procurement
panels. The team provides scrutiny on quality and efficiency through various
contractual review processes to ensure commissioning mandate is fully adhered to.
5. Minimising harm from medicines.
The team has undertaken in-depth clinical audits on controlled drugs to minimise
harm from these medicines. The team has liaised with NHS England’s Accountable
Officer on issues relating to controlled drugs monitoring to find pragmatic solutions to
aid better care provision for these patients. The team also implemented national
patient safety priorities such as Sodium Valproate in female patients and worked with
hospital specialists to improve medication safety on clozapine. The team supports 11
care homes in Greenwich which has resulted in over 2,600 clinical interventions.
In addition to the priorities above, the team provided training on long term conditions.
Several resources such as the prescribing newsletter and electronic prescribing
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support tools such as ScriptSwitch have been developed to aid primary care,
reduce variability and provide timely information on newly developed guidelines,
therapeutic pathways and medicines shortages.
The team have been invited by NHS England to take part in its Atrial Fibrillation
Demonstrator Programme to optimise detection, protection and perfection of
anticoagulation in these cohorts of patients reinforced partially by the local enhanced
service created by the team for management of patients with Atrial Fibrillation.

Primary care work programmes

Building resilience in General Practice is a key priority and the CCG has worked with
all member practices through the year to support transformation. In November 2019
the Primary Care Commissioning Committee received a Business Case for Eltham
Park Surgery and Westmount Road Surgery in Eltham to merge with Eltham Medical
Practice. The business case was approved subject to certain conditions relating to
ensuring enough capacity would be in place to manage the increased list size of
Eltham Medical Practice from circa 17,000 to 24,500 patients. This merger enabled
the single handed GP partner from Eltham Park to take retirement and the single
handed GP partner from Westmount Road to become a salaried GP and reduce her
clinical sessions. The Eltham Park surgery premises have remained open to
become a branch surgery of Eltham Medical Practice so there is less disruption for
patients. It is envisaged that more small practices will adopt this approach in order to
be able to continue to deliver good quality primary care services.
Use of technology
We are rolling out e-Consult which will allow all practices to offer email consultations
to patients by April 2020. Patients will continue to book online for face to face
appointments and order prescriptions, using the MyGp App, NHS App or the Patient
Access App, and can choose to have an email consultation or request a sick note,
letter or other administrative service without having to visit the surgery. April 2021
should see video consultations added to this list of services. Four Greenwich
practices have had their patient records digitalised which has freed up valuable room
within the practices.
Practices in Greenwich are part of a programme to have their N3 Internet cables
upgraded to have faster and safer access to patient records and referral services
during consultations. This will also support their ability to offer email and video
consultations.
Estates
We have made significant progress in two of our major strategic developments, the
redesign of Gallions Reach Health Centre in Thamesmead and the new Kidbrooke
Health and Wellbeing Centre. Construction work at Gallions is expected to begin in
summer 2020, with a completion date in 2021. The Kidbrooke development has
taken shape in collaboration with the Royal Borough of Greenwich and an integrated
model for health and the community is central to the design.
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The Local Estates Forum (LEF) scrutinises progress of these developments and a
pipeline of new proposals for redeveloping Plumstead Health Centre and making
more efficient use of some of our more modern health facilities like Garland Road
Medical Centre, Plumstead and Millennium Health Centres and Greenwich
Peninsula. The Forum includes Royal Borough of Greenwich planning and the
London-wide Healthy Urban Development Unit in assessing premises needs for
health in the longer-term, with a focus on areas of the borough with a concentration
of new, and planned, residential developments, such as Greenwich Peninsula,
Central Woolwich and Charlton Riverside.
Access
There are now four locations where patients can access primary care through the
extended GP Access Hubs between 4pm-8pm Monday to Friday and 8am-8pm
weekends. These two new sites offer equity of access for patients across
Greenwich. The four sites are Eltham Community Hospital, Thamesmead Health
Centre, Burney Street Practice Greenwich and Fairfield Health Centre Charlton. In
additional to GP services, the Access hubs also offer a nurse led dressing for
patients who require daily dressings.

Learning disabilities
People with learning disabilities and / or autism
Through the Transforming Care Programme (TCP), using Mental Health Investment
Standard and Transformation funding, initiatives have been developed to improve
mental health crisis care, care in the community and improve physical health care.
The CCG continues to work to reduce the number of people in hospital by
undertaking regular Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) and participate in
discharge planning.
Investments:
 Autism Spectrum Disorder Project (ASD project)
This project launched August 2019 aims to prevent admissions and expedite
discharge from hospital for adults with autism and mental health needs who do not
have a learning disability. Greenwich CCG has a dedicated ASD Lead as part of this
project.
Intensive Community Service Team (ICST)- Greenwich Community Learning
Disability Team (CLDT)
Launched in November 2019, this pilot provides short term, intensive support to
clients at the greatest risk of admission to hospital or placement breakdown.




Positive Behaviour Support training – training provided to families, carers and
professionals by the Challenging Behaviour Foundation to learn more about
positive behaviour support.



Autism awareness training (child and adult) – training provided to healthcare
professionals and providers.
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Community learning disability team Investment
The CCG invested in the following four new posts to prevent illness and help the
learning disability population to live well:
 Transition Nurse – to identify and improve the health and wellbeing of children
and Young people transitioning to adult services.
 Physical Health Nurse – to enhance the uptake of annual health checks and
support people with access health services.
 Physiotherapist – to improve mobility functional ability.
 Speech and Language Therapist – to support with eating and drinking and
communication needs.
Learning disability mortality review (LeDeR)
Since 2017, we have worked with Oxleas and Royal Borough of Greenwich (RBG) to
support local areas to review the deaths of people with learning disabilities.
• All deaths of people with Learning Disabilities aged 4+ will be reviewed.
• Reviewers look at patient’s health & social care throughout lifespan.
• The process identifies “potentially avoidable contributory factors”.
• Aims to reduce health inequalities & premature mortality through:
- Sharing best practice.
- Identifying areas for improvement.
- Local multi-agency steering groups overseeing implementation of
action plans from completed reviews.
The CCG has a LeDeR steering group who meet regularly to collate information
about the deaths of people with learning disabilities so that common themes,
learning points and recommendations can be identified from the reviews to make
continuous improvements to on-going service provision. Those most commonly
reported learning into practice points is related to the need for:
 Greater inter-agency collaboration, including communication.
 Greater awareness of the needs of people with learning disabilities.
 Greater understanding and application of the Mental Capacity Act
(MCA).
Annual health checks for people with learning disability (LD)
People with learning disabilities have poorer physical and mental health than other
people. The life expectancy for people with learning disabilities is 15–20 years lower
than the general population. Many of these deaths are avoidable and not inevitable.
Annual health checks can identify undetected health conditions early, ensure the
appropriateness of on-going treatments and establish trust and continuity of care.
GPs and practice nurses have the much needed generalist skills to help people with
LD get timely access to increasing complex health systems
We are working alongside the TCP to increase the uptake of annual health checks
by providing training and guidance to GPs and promoting health checks within the
learning disability population. There is a health facilitator embedded within the
Community Learning Disability Team to help with this work.
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Children and young people

Children and young people mental health (including child and adolescent
mental health services (CAMHS))
Greenwich’s approach to improving outcomes for children and young people’s (CYP)
mental health and wellbeing is outlined in the Children and Young People Plan 20172020. The 2019/20 Greenwich CAMHS local transformation plan refresh describes
our continued commitment to improving mental health and emotional well-being
services for children and young people (CYP). The plan was informed by the voices
of young people and in partnership with local partners and is designed to align with
local and regional priorities.
In south east London giving every child the best start in life is a key priority because
a healthy, happy and well supported start in life will help to ensure that children go
on to be healthy, happy adults. Many health challenges and inequalities have
foundations in early childhood, with the poorest families experiencing the worst
health outcomes. SEL has an increasing number of CYP in vulnerable groups with
greater risk of health and mental wellbeing needs, focus is needed on prevention
and early intervention as well as considering how joined up commissioning and
budgets can support system-wide improvement and shared accountability. Our aim
is to improve outcomes and reduce health inequalities for all those aged 0-25
through system change and leadership.
We are currently implementing the NHSE Trailblazer pilot following a successful bid
for funding in 2019, this will increase the prevention and early intervention mental
health support for children and young people in a number of the schools in
Greenwich, through the introduction of Mental Health Support Teams in schools.
Alongside this we are undertaking the Anna Freud Link Programme to give all our
schools and colleges the confidence to identify children and young people in need of
mental health support and ensure professionals across the system are working
together effectively.
Following the increase in crisis presentations, nationally and locally, we have
committed to funding additional posts within the crisis team, and at a South London
level the South London Partnership (SLP) is continuing to support young people who
need to go into hospital to stay closer to home through the New Models of Care
programme.
Regular engagement with children and young people, families and our partners has
been key to shaping our vision and transformation priorities, providing a core tenet in
the commissioning and development of services in Greenwich. To ensure we
continue to meet the needs of children and young people in Greenwich we are
working in collaboration with the Royal Borough of Greenwich, Oxleas and other key
stakeholders to re-design children and young people’s mental health pathways
across the system.
We are successfully achieving the national access rate targets for CYP mental
health, working closely across STP to ensure we meet future targets. The digital
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mental health offer for young people has been strengthened through the successful
piloting of Kooth, an online counselling and resource platform. There has been a
high rate of access from the young people in Greenwich.
Perinatal mental health
The CCG, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, Bexley CCG, and Bromley CCG
successfully bid for funding from the Perinatal Development Fund to set up a
perinatal mental health service. This service went live in February 2019 and is
delivering a trust-wide specialist perinatal community service with a hub and spoke
model.
As part of this we have worked closely with voluntary sector services, women with
lived experience and increased our focus on the mental health of fathers; for
example, making available the Dadpad app to support new dads in their role as a
parent and implementation of a Mindful Dads pilot for fathers.
Children and young people health and wellbeing
Integrated therapies
The Integrated Therapy Service is provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust to
provide an integrated therapies service, incorporating Speech and Language,
Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy. The service is led by clinical leads and
specialist therapists, who provide expert information, health promotion guidance,
assessments and interventions (where applicable).
Children and young people with long term conditions
In September 2019, Greenwich CCG developed an initiative to work with pharmacies
to complete asthma action plans through Greenwich respiratory improvement
collaborative which targets patients with respiratory disease and involves an initial
structured review and a follow up 6-8 weeks later if required with a suitably
competent pharmacist / pharmacist technician.

Mental health work programmes
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
Greenwich CCG continues to achieve and maintain one of the highest recovery rates
in the country for people accessing IAPT services (57% against a 50% national
target). However, the CCG did not meet the 22% access rate for 2019/20. We
continue to work with our provider to look at how we can improve our access rate
and achieve the national target.
Dementia
The target is for at least two thirds (66.7%) of people with dementia to be diagnosed.
Greenwich CCG has reached 63.7% for 2019/20. There have been continued
challenges with data issues, which have affected the accuracy of the figures
reported. The CCG is working with the local provider and GPs to address this issue.
Work is being undertaken locally to ensure that GPs have recorded all people with a
diagnosis of dementia with a Greenwich GP, as well as working with providers, RBG
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and third sector organisations to ensure appropriate and timely referrals are made to
our local Memory Service.
Health checks for people with SMI (serious mental illness)
People living with severe mental illness (SMI) face one of the greatest health
inequality gaps in England equal to that of people with learning disabilities, this is
partly due to physical health needs being overlooked. Smoking is the largest
avoidable cause of premature death, with more than 40% of adults with SMI
smoking. Individuals with SMI also have double the risk of obesity and diabetes,
three times the risk of hypertension and metabolic syndrome, and five times the risk
of dyslipidaemia (imbalance of lipids in the bloodstream) than the general population.
Individuals living with SMI are consistently overlooked for appropriate or timely
physical health assessments despite their higher risk of poor physical health. They
are not being supported to use available health information and advice or to take up
tests and interventions that reduce the risk of preventable health conditions.
Therefore in the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, NHS England and The
Long Term Plan committed to ensure that by 2020/21, 60% of people living with
severe mental illness (SMI) have their physical health needs met by increasing early
detection and expanding access to evidence-based physical care assessment and
intervention each year.
The CCG is planning a workshop to develop the optimum model for undertaking
more SMI physical health checks in a primary care setting. As part of the workshop
planning we are in discussion about implementing a Local Enhanced Service (LES)
with GP practices. The CCG is currently in the process of establishing a validated
baseline in order to consider true additionally required. Current investigations have
highlighted that more SMI Physical Health Checks are being undertaken than are
being counted.

Frailty

A pilot approach to manage frailty has been co-designed with public, patients, carers
and local service delivery providers. The pilot will provide preventative care
coordination, an approach built on national best practice. This case management
model brings together a multidisciplinary team of professionals to plan the most
appropriate interventions for patients who might be at risk of deterioration. It
launched in early 2020 with GP practices in Riverview PCN and will run for 12
months. Queen Mary University of London will provide external evaluation of the
pilot.
A falls prevention service will launch at the same time, taking referrals from all
Greenwich including care homes and self-referrals, and working closely with London
Ambulance Service and GP practices to provide early identification of those most at
risk of injurious falls.
The launch of a ‘take home and settle’ service at Queen Elizabeth Hospital in
January 2019 provided by Age UK has been extremely well received and is very
popular with staff and patients alike. The service accompanies vulnerable patients
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home from hospital and ensures they are safe at home including purchasing food
where needed and onward referrals to other services.
Greenwich was awarded ‘Dementia Friendly’ community status in late 2018 and
work continues to strengthen this position.
The urgent community response service (part of the joint emergency team (JET))
has been re-launched in February 2020 as a single point of access, incorporating
other community based urgent response services, and with extended hours to take
referrals from 8am to 8pm. Greenwich is part of the successful south east London
bid to be an accelerator site for urgent community response and plans are underway
to extend the capabilities and capacity of this service further in the coming year. The
team will include medical staff, so that the team can provide a virtual ward type of
service, supporting more acutely unwell patients safely in their own homes. At
present the planning is to include hospital consultant oversight, with medical
interventions provided by GPs and nurses in the team. This will prevent a greater
number of hospital admissions and support early discharges, enabling patients
to return to their own homes sooner with the right support.

Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a joint Department of Health and Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government fund. The national value of the BCF in 2019/20
was over £2 billion. The Greenwich allocation is £21.6 million.
The plans on how to spend the funds are agreed by the CCG and Council with four
conditions:
• Plans to be jointly agreed
• NHS contribution to adult social care to be maintained in line with the uplift to
CCG minimum contribution
• Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of-hospital services, which
may include 7-day services and adult social care
• Managing Transfers of Care
The BCF programme jointly commissions health and social care services that give
people access to high-quality care in their community. The programme aims to
improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people, placing them at the heart of
their care and support, and providing them with ‘wraparound’ fully integrated health
and social care, resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life. Four
priorities were agreed in Greenwich for 2019/20:
•
•
•
•

Multidisciplinary working to further improve our work with people who are in
Hospital
Maximising the impact of reablement/rehabilitation type services
Improving dementia services
Improving end of life care services
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Progress is closely monitored and national reporting focuses on four key metrics:
non-elective admissions, delayed transfers of care (DToC), residential admissions
and reablement. Better Care Fund programmes are designed to reduce non-elective
admissions, admissions to residential care, improve patient satisfaction with services
and increase the number of patients living at home after a discharge from hospital.
Some of the key projects are outlined below.
An enhanced therapy model in A&E was commissioned as a pilot in November 2019
to extend the therapy support for admission avoidance at Queen Elizabeth Hospital.
The team’s evaluation demonstrates a saving of 100 admissions a month as a direct
result of this intervention, with an increase in the number of direct referrals from
Emergency Department to community teams.
A take home and settle service was commissioned from Age UK in January 2019 to
support the timely discharge of vulnerable patients from Queen Elizabeth Hospital.
The service currently provides transport and settles around 50 vulnerable patients at
home each month.
Working with colleagues from the Urgent Care Centre and Lewisham and Greenwich
Trust, commissioners are supporting the development of a new streaming process
and same day emergency care model at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, to reduce the
number of patients requiring emergency care and increase the number receiving
same day ambulatory care.
The transfer of care collaborative (TOCC) is a multi-disciplinary team based at
Queen Elizabeth Hospital spanning health and social care, which aims to improve
discharge pathways and processes, reduce patient hand-offs at discharge and
improve the experience and outcomes for patients. With support from the Healthy
London Partnership, the TOCC continues to focus on addressing the root causes of
long lengths of stay and addressing these with partners.
The home as a priority pathway brings together partners to develop urgent step-up
and early support discharge step-down support for patients in their own home,
bolstering acute assessment skills and establishing enhanced nurse / therapy-led
pathways.
A care home liaison manager works at Queen Elizabeth Hospital to expedite and
smooth the discharges of patients back to care homes, whilst building relationships
between ward staff and care homes.
Greenwich continues to engage within cross borough work on reviewing the patient
choice policy. The focus has been on making this operational and implementing this
as part of the delayed transfer of care scrutiny process.
Work to close the gap between current service provision and that expected by the
Enhanced Health in Care Homes framework (EHCH) is underway. A gap analysis by
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key stakeholders identified the following priority areas that are now being funded
through BCF liquidity money for 2019/20:
• Clinical training programme for care home staff to include key elements
speech and language therapy / hydration / dysphagia / medication side effects
/ first aid / wound management / nutrition / falls
• Mental health crisis support for care home residents
• Wider clinical support including end of life, tissue viability, podiatry, pharmacy,
dietetics, diabetic specialist, dementia, Parkinson’s specialists for are home
residents
• Reablement through occupational therapist and physiotherapist.

End of life (EOL) care

Greenwich CCG commission a wide range of health services for people nearing the
end of their lives. These services are delivered through primary care, Oxleas
community health services, Greenwich and Bexley Community Hospice and at
Queen Elizabeth Hospital.
In the past, hospices mainly provided in-patient services for cancer patients. This
model has changed significantly over the past 25 years. Whilst in-patient care
remains a feature, the sector has developed an increased number of specialist
hospital-at-home services, in-reach services into acute trusts, day services and
support to carers.
End of life care is increasingly recognised as an area where clinicians in primary
care can make a real difference to outcomes. Our teams already do amazing work
allowing people to have the natural death they wish, in the place of their preference,
and with the medical support they require. However it is clear that many more people
might choose to die at home this way if they had the opportunity.
A GP can expect around 1% of their patient population to die each year. Many of
these can be expected, and therefore end of life support can be planned alongside
the wishes of the individual patient.
2019 saw the introduction of a new quality improvement criteria for end of life care.
GPs are asked to demonstrate continuous quality improvement activity on end of life
care and to network regularly to share and discuss learning from quality
improvement activity.
There is strong partnership working in Greenwich to develop and improve the local
offer. A strategy group meets regularly, with active participation and input from
partner organisations across our local system. The ambitions of the group were
focused on understanding the existing providers, early identification of end of life
patients and connecting providers.
In the year, the following schemes have been developed and implemented as a
system:
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Two Greenwich end of life events for Primary Care have been hugely
successful and well attended.
Improved occupational therapy capacity to support people with palliative care
needs in the community to help reduce pressures on family, carers and other
domiciliary services and also reduce the likelihood of emergency attendances
at A&E.
End of life care education programme for care homes – being developed in
line with enhanced health in care homes framework. Engagement with care
home providers, hospice team, RBG commissioners and quality team, CCG
commissioners to discuss content and mode of delivery.
Difficult conversations training together with colleagues from across Bexley
and Lewisham for our GP colleagues.
Introduced an incentive scheme for GPs who work with their patients to create
anticipatory care plans that are shared with all local provider organisations via
Co-ordinate My Care (CMC). This summarises a patient’s needs and wishes,
and makes these plans available to organisations who may only occasionally
care for the patient and typically know nothing about them. Where Greenwich
CCG patients have a CMC record, 19% die in hospital, compared to a
national figure of 47% dying in hospital.

Healthcare acquired infections (HCAIs)

There are three national targets for HCAIs:
 Clostridium difficile (C.difficile)
 Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA)
 Escherichia coli (E.coli) bacteraemia - this national target was introduced,
following a five-year national ambition launched in 2016 to achieve a 50%
reduction across the entire health sector by March 2021. However, the date
for achievement of this goal has been revised to March 2024 with a 25%
reduction by March 2021.
There are no set trajectories for Methicillin-Sensitive Staphylococcus Aureus (MSSA)
Blood Stream Infection (BSI), but they must be reported.
HCAIs can be acquired in the community or in hospital, and MRSA especially is
becoming more difficult to treat with antibiotics, so prevention is a priority area for all
NHS staff.
Clostridium difficile
 The Greenwich C.difficile target threshold for 2019/20 was 26. This number
includes cases originating from acute care and the community.
 For 2019/20 cases reported to the healthcare associated infection data
capture system were assigned as follows:
o hospital onset healthcare associated (HOHA): cases that are detected
in the hospital three or more days after admission
o community onset healthcare associated(COHA): cases that occur in
the community (or within two days of admission) when the patient has
been an inpatient in the trust reporting the case in the previous four
weeks
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o community onset indeterminate association(COIA): cases that occur in
the community (or within two days of admission) when the patient has
been an inpatient in the trust reporting the case in the previous 12
weeks but not the most recent four weeks
o community onset community associated(COCA): cases that occur in
the community (or within two days of admission) when the patient has
not been an inpatient in the trust reporting the case in the previous 12
weeks.




In 2019/20 the figures to date show in total 37 cases of C.difficile in
Greenwich-registered patients; of those cases 12 were community acquired
and 25 were hospital-acquired C.difficile cases.
Post-infection reviews consistently identify the need for improvement in the
use of antibiotics as a significant factor in reducing the burden of this
infection.
No lapses in care and cross contamination has been reported in all
community cases.

MRSA
 The Greenwich MRSA target threshold for 2019/20 was zero.
 In 2019/20 the figures to date show two cases of MRSA attributed to
Greenwich CCG commissioned services.
 An ongoing process for post-infection review for all MRSA cases is in place to
enable learning and action planning.
E.coli
 The Greenwich E. coli target threshold for 2019/20 was a 20% reduction from
the 2016/17 figure which was 189.
 In 2019/20 the figures to date show 122 cases of E. coli associated with
Greenwich CCG commissioned services.
Tuberculosis (TB)
 Greenwich has had the highest incidence of TB in South East London
boroughs for the last six years with >100 TB cases each year. Most of these
cases of TB are a reactivation of latent TB, which could have been prevented
if those with latent TB were treated with anti-TB medications.
 TB case numbers and rates in Greenwich continue to decline, although at a
slower pace since 2015. In 2018, 68 active cases of TB were notified in
Greenwich residents, a rate of 24 per 100,000 populations. The table below
shows the TB rate from 2014 until 2017.
Greenwich 2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Number
97
92
64
70
68
Rate
36.1
33.5
22.9
25
24
Active TB data for 2019/20 was not available at the time of the report publication.
Latent TB Infection (LTBI) testing and treatment by Greenwich GP practices
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Greenwich CCG and Public Health Greenwich support the NHS England and
Public Health England National LTBI testing and treatment programme 20152020 and rolled out the scheme across all Greenwich CCG practices from
2016.
The LTBI testing and treatment is offered to new and existing patients who
are aged 16-35, were born outside the UK in a high-risk country and have
lived in England for less than five years.
Greenwich has made good progress and expected to test a further 1000
patients by April 2019, having applied successfully to NHS England for
additional funding. Since the start of the screening programme out of 2756
tests 569 (21.16%) tests were LTBI positive.

Diabetes
A series of workshops have been held with key stakeholders including patients
across Greenwich, Bexley and Lewisham, primary care, community, secondary care,
GP Federations, PCN representatives to develop a new model of care based around
a PCN for patients with diabetes which promotes prevention, self-management, care
close to home and the use of technology and innovation, with swift access to
specialist help when needed, rather than attending A&E.
This approach has been modelled on the success that was achieved in Portsmouth –
moving the majority of outpatient activity to the community and reducing non-elective
admissions in the long term.
Structured education for Type 2 diabetes
Greenwich CCG joined with CCGs across South London so that patients with
diagnosis of Type 2 diabetes can access education from any location across south
London, to maximise opportunities for self-management. Structured education is
available through a central booking system, which offers additional choice and
flexibility for patients who are now able to fit these courses around work and other
personal commitments.
Treatment target
The three treatment target provides specialist support to patients with high long-term
blood glucose levels (HbA1C) to achieve reduction in their HbA1C levels. This
service is in its second year and the team is at full strength offering all services
including foot checks, phlebotomy and year of care reviews. Patients accessing this
service are successfully working towards improving their HbA1C levels and the
provider has made significant improvements to the service during the last 12 months.
This includes the roll out of a diabetes dashboard, implementation of virtual clinics
with a diabetes consultant within Queen Elizabeth Hospital and the introduction of
the diabetes in reach rrogramme.
Specialist multidisciplinary diabetic foot team (MDfT)
The MDfT clinic at Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) has offered improved access for
Greenwich patients with active diabetic foot disease to improve management
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outcomes and reduce risk of amputations.
NHS diabetes prevention programme (NDPP) - Healthier You
This is led by Public Health identifying patients within the pre-diabetes range, to offer
behavioural intervention to enable them to reduce their risk of developing Type 2
diabetes through weight loss, improved diet and increased levels of physical activity.
As part of the commitment to minimise the prevalence of Type 2 diabetes in
Greenwich, public health is working collaboratively with the CCG and Greenwich
Health to improve awareness of diabetes risks amongst residents as well as drive an
increase in referrals to this programme.
A new remote service is now available for patients not suitable for the face to face
programme. The Oviva App is a new and innovative way to learn about diabetes
prevention, using phone calls or messaging with regular, individualised dietary
support from the dietitian.

Performance analysis: Improving quality and performance
The CCG performance is measured against a set of national and local standards that
reflect the timeliness, quality and safety of care experienced by patients. These
standards help to monitor how well the CCG is performing. Areas of care that fall
short of targets have robust action plans in place to ensure improvement.
The CCG has two reports that provide patients and interested parties with
performance-related information. The reports, which are listed below, are presented
to the Governing Body and are available on the NHS Greenwich CCG website:


The integrated performance and quality report focuses on NHS constitutional
standards for acute and non-acute services, such as elective waiting times,
and the targets that are nationally required to demonstrate that the CCG is
delivering timely, high quality, safe, patient-centred and responsive care.



The finance report covers the activities and care the CCG purchases from
provider organisations such as hospitals, community and mental health
services and the voluntary sector, and provides information on how the CCG
manages resources for the local population.

This information is closely monitored by NHS England, primarily through the CCG
assurance process, as set out in the Improvement and Assessment Framework and
through multiple returns submitted throughout the year. The CCG is working closely
with the South East London Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (SEL
STP) assurance team to improve performance.
The following table shows NHS Greenwich’s CCG performance against national
performance measures from April 2019 to March 2020. Year end results for the
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) are published by NHS England. Inyear, the CCG IAF indicators are refreshed on MyNHS.
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Greenwich CCG Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Measures
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Challenges addressed
Accident and Emergency (A&E) four hour standards
The operational standard states that at least 95% of patients attending Accident and
Emergency (A&E) should be admitted, transferred or discharged within four hours.
The performance table demonstrates that this was another challenging year for
Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (LGT). The four hour performance delivery remains
challenging across both sites with a year to date performance of 81.8% in March
2020, against the national target of 95%.
Trolley waits over 12 hours
The number of trolley waits has increased since April 2019 with a year to date value
of 508 trolley waits at the end of March 2020.
Ambulance handover breach
The ambulance handover breaches shows a continuing decline in performance
against the 30 and 60 minute standards. Year to date there were 716 breaches of
(60 minutes) and 1113 breaches of (30 minute) standards at the end of March 2020.
The long length of stay continues to be a challenge – both sites of the Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) are now refreshing actions plans to address this, with
additional support from Healthy London Partnership.
The trust is reviewing impact and delivery of the improvement plans to ensure
actions are fit for purpose. Both sites are now working on strengthening reporting
and governance processes related to Emergency Department (ED) performance,
and refreshing the ED improvement plans. The trust is reviewing how it engages with
system partners, particularly during times of escalation. Both sites are working to
share good practice and working collaboratively moving forward.
Delayed transfers of care (DToCs)
Delayed transfers of care (DToCs), saw an increase in delayed bed-days since
month five, taking the performance above the Greenwich aspiration. This was a
temporary increase coinciding with the closure of the Discharge to Assess (D2A)
service, supporting early discharges from hospital. The unit was been re-opened and
the performance was seen to have returned to the expected threshold in month nine.
It is hoped that the relocation of a shared central base within the Queen Elizabeth
Hospital (QEH) could further improve networking opportunities. The multi-disciplinary
team comprising of professionals from health and social care, the Transfer of Care
Collaborative (ToCC), continues to work together to reduce the delays.
Referral to treatment within 18 weeks (RTT)
The Greenwich CCG RTT performance at the end of M12 (March 2020), was at
77.3%. The trust-wide RTT performance for LGT at the end of March 2020 (M12
validated), was 77.8% and remains below the national target of 92%.
There is work underway at LGT across all specialties to review long waiters’ patient
treatment plans and to produce improvement plans for specialities with greatest
opportunity for improvement. A strengthened RTT assurance process are being put
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in place to help improve performance by ensuring this identifies potential breaches
earlier and for each patient, waiting longer than 40 weeks, who has a plan in place to
have their treatment within 52 weeks.
Cancer
Apart from the 62 day and the two week waiting time standards; the CCG has
performed well on all cancer standards since April 2019.
As part of the overall review of performance assurance, the LGT cancer team are
refreshing the approach to cancer assurance and the cancer action plan. The
revised approach will include monthly cancer operations meetings to review trustwide issues, and a review of all patients waiting over 104 days (both internally and
externally). The trust will continue to hold deep dive meetings with all tumour groups
on a bi-monthly basis.
Diagnostic performance
Greenwich CCG has not been able to achieve the diagnostics waiting times target
since April 2019. The target relates to percentage of service users of no more than
1%, waiting six weeks or more from referral for a diagnostic test.
The endoscopy, echocardiology and non obstetric ultrasound were the primary
drivers of poor performance in most South East London (SEL) trusts affecting the
CCG performance.
Performance improvement plans for south east London trusts have been agreed
between commissioners and providers to measure and monitor the delivery of
actions, risks and issues. Monthly performance meetings are in place to review
progress against trust specific trajectories.
Continuing healthcare standards
The CCG performance for all three continuing healthcare (CHC) standards continues
to be delivered above their respective targets since April 2019.
Dementia diagnosis rates
The CCG has not been able to deliver the dementia diagnosis rate since April 2019.
The CCG is working locally and with NHS England and NHS Improvement
(NHSE/NHSI) to address the ongoing data recording issues, as well as ensuring
patient access to diagnostic services. The CCG is also working with the Royal
Borough of Greenwich and the third sector to ensure a whole system approach to
supporting dementia diagnosis.
Improving Access to Psychological Therapy (IAPT)
The CCG has over-performed on all IAPT indicators since April 2019, except on the
Access Rate Indicator, which has been performing below the monthly trajectory of
1.8%.
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Financial overview

1%

The CCG commissions healthcare services to meet the needs and improve the
health of the population of Greenwich. The main NHS providers are Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust, Guy’s and St.Thomas’ Foundation Trust and Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust. In addition, the CCG funds the prescribing costs of Greenwich GP
practices and holds delegated responsibility, from NHS England, for commissioning
primary care services within Greenwich.
Overall the CCG has delivered a surplus of £3.6 million for 2019/20. This is in line
with the planned surplus of £3.6 million.
The CCG is required to achieve several specific financial targets. These are
summarised in the table below:
CCG financial targets 2019/20

Deliver
statutory
financial duties

Agreed Surplus
Expenditure not to exceed
income
Operate Under Resource
Revenue Limit
Not to exceed Running Cost
Allowance
Operate under Capital
Resource Limit

Target
(£’000’s)
3,600
466,439

Actual
(£000’s)
3,666
462,773

Achieved

459,801

456,135

Achieved

6,350

5,756

Achieved

0

0

Achieved

Achieved
Achieved
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Deliver
administrative
duty under the
better
payments
practice

95% of NHS creditor
payments within 30 days

95%

99.79%

Achieved

95% of non-NHS creditor
payments within 30 days

95%

99.18%

Achieved

As reported above, we are pleased to confirm that the CCG has delivered all its
financial performance targets for 2019/20.
A financial risk-share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in South East
London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the risk-share
agreement be enacted in 2019/20. The final revenue resource limit values included
in the 2019/20 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the risk-share
agreement.
CCG running costs
The CCG’s running cost allocation in 2019/20 was £6,350,000. Following last year’s
focus on recruiting permanent members to its structure the CCG has been able to
underspend its allocation by £x.
Future years
2020/21 represents the second year of a new planning period within the NHS, with
the intention that it provides the pillars upon which the new formed South East
London CCG and wider health economy can develop a system response to the
healthcare needs of the Greenwich population. The new South East London CCG is
planning a surplus of £1.4 million in year as its share of an overall South East
London system control total. The achievement of the plan is dependent upon the
delivery of significant QIPP savings of £88.6 million in 2020/21 together with the
management of other key financial risks.
The following pie chart shows the CCG plans to spend its budget in 2020/21.
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Other matters
Remuneration paid to external auditors in relation to audit work for 2019/20 was
£55,080 (including non-recoverable VAT). Remuneration for non-audit work was
£7,200, for work undertaken in relation to the Mental Health Investment Standard.
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for release
of information.
Annual Accounts
The full annual accounts together with the Statement of Accountable Officer’s
responsibilities and Independent Auditors Report are included in section 3.
Audit Committee highlights
• Approved an annual internal audit plan with RSM UK to provide the Audit
Committee and Governing Body with the assurance that Greenwich CCG is
operating effectively and productively and monitored any actions arising from
the audits.
• Monitored and reviewed financial and other risks and associated controls,
corporate governance and financial assurance.
Integrated Governance Committee highlights
• Provided assurance to the Governing Body that affordable and appropriate
budgets were set.
• Effectively monitored the finance and QIPP performance throughout 2019/20
and advised on corrective actions where appropriate.
• Maintained the QIPP Planning Delivery and Monitoring Group reporting to the
Financial Recovery Board for QIPP business plans.
Finance and Investment Committee (FIC) highlights
• The purpose of FIC is to lead and drive the financial recovery of the CCG, so
it can continue on its journey to recurrent financial balance and ensure that
patient safety and quality are not compromised.
• During 2019/20, the FIC oversaw the delivery of the CCG QIPP efficiencies of
£12.19 million.

Sustainable development
The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy for England provides a framework which
addresses sustainability in how we operate as an organisation in our own right, and
in terms of how we contract for services from providers of healthcare. The plan aims
to:




drive down direct C02 emissions and energy usage whilst also reducing
revenue expenditure
influence commissioned services to reduce their carbon footprint in support of
the 10% target reduction
ensure that all new buildings and other initiatives are developed with
reference to the plan.
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Local plans focus on the same areas and some of the key actions are detailed
below.
Energy and carbon management: our office is based in the Woolwich Centre, a
modern building with many sustainable features including automatic lighting that
switches off when no one is present, electricity generation from solar PV to offset the
buildings electrical costs and solar water heating. Cooling to the main areas of the
building is run by state-of-the-art energy efficient chiller system via chilled beams,
and heating in the building is run by 96% energy efficient condensing gas boilers.
Procurement and food: our main strategy is to influence the carbon footprint of
NHS services using our procurement framework, which addresses environmental
issues. All contracts for healthcare services include clauses requiring providers to
demonstrate their measured progress on climate change adaptation, mitigation and
sustainable development, and include performance against carbon reduction
management plans.
Low carbon travel, transport and access: we have implemented a range of new
services, and developed existing services, to bring them closer to the home. Cycling
has been promoted actively for employees with excellent cycle storage and related
facilities. The Council operates a cycle hire scheme that allows employees to make
use of one of six Brompton bicycles for work travel.
Water: efficient use of water is embedded in new capital projects. For example,
Eltham Community Hospital and The Woolwich Centre harvest rainwater for use in
the building. The Woolwich Centre also has integral filtered watered in all its kitchens
for drinking.
Waste: recyclable waste is appropriately disposed of and we are part of RBG’s
active strategies to reduce waste and promote recycling. We continue to focus on
reducing our use of printing.
Organisational and workforce development: staff can use low carbon travel
options, with walking and cycling encouraged and aligned business mileage
processes. Audio, video and web conferencing technology and remote working
capability are in place and promoted to avoid going into Central London for
meetings. We are also promoting online services in GP practices, so patients can
also reduce their journeys.
Role of partnerships and networks: the Greenwich Core Strategy commits us to
working in partnership with stakeholders under Local Strategic Partnerships, in
particular RBG.
Finance: as part of the exercise to calculate the carbon footprint, carbon reduction
targets will be set to achieve the NHS target and take advantage of schemes which
support investment in energy efficiency initiatives.
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Quality and safety
NHS Greenwich CCG has discharged its statutory duty to improve quality by
commissioning safe and high quality patient care from appropriately accredited,
regulated and approved providers. This is enhanced through robust quality
schedules and commissioning for quality and innovation schemes (CQUINs) within
contracts, with all providers, including newly commissioned services and pathways
as they are developed.
Quality is a major priority for NHS Greenwich CCG. One of our strategic objectives in
2019/20 was to commission safe and sustainable services to meet the health and
wellbeing needs of the population of Greenwich. In the year we implemented
changes to ensure that quality remains a key focus in challenging financial times and
have continued to embed those changes. The robust scrutiny of all CCG Quality
Improvement Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plans and financial decisions,
including the embedding of a quality impact assessment (QIA) policy, continues for
all commissioning decisions.
Quality Monitoring and Assurance
NHS Greenwich CCG has a number of mechanisms by which it discharges its
statutory duty to improve quality. These are listed below:
The Governing Body
The Governing Body is responsible for the quality of commissioned services and
reviews the performance across all of our providers. The Governing Body receives
an integrated performance report and dashboard, which includes data and
intelligence on the quality of locally commissioned services at every meeting.
The Integrated Governance Committee
The Integrated Governance Committee, chaired by the nurse member of the
Governing Body, has been established to maintain the systems and processes that
ensure we have a clear focus on quality. This committee, which reports directly to
our Governing Body, receives detailed quality and performance reports to enable
effective oversight of provider performance and quality to ensure consistency of
achievement.
Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) meetings
As part of the contractual process, Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) meetings
are held with each NHS acute, community, mental health and independent providers.
Each provider is required to attend a CQRG meeting. Relationships have been
established to support local accountability and response to local needs and
requirements.
The role of the CQRG includes:
 To receive and act on key quality reports, identify themes, trends and learning
from serious incidents, ‘never events’, complaints and safeguarding reports, in
order to gain assurance on the processes and outcomes.
 Ensure the provider provides assurance of how learning is being
disseminated and embedded throughout the organisation. For example, if the
CQRG is concerned that the data or report demonstrate a decline in quality,
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further assurance is sought and contract remedial measures may be enacted.
If there are significant quality concerns the CCG may escalate these to the
NHS England South East London Quality Surveillance Group to ensure
further NHS regulatory oversight and improvement support and actions are
made available. This group includes NHS England, NHS Improvement, the
Care Quality Commission, General Medical Council and others.
To agree CCG led quality assurance visits and in-depth reviews where
themes or concern have emerged.

Quality assurance visits
NHS Greenwich CCG has maintained a programme of quality assurance visits to our
providers. These are undertaken by our quality team through an agreed protocol and
with our neighbouring CCG partners for large commissioned services, using a
defined criterion based on Care Quality Commission (CQC) standards, to assess the
standard of care, staffing and patient experience. Quality Assurance visits are also
undertaken on an ad-hoc basis within provider organisations, when the CCG have
persistent or increasing quality concerns identified. These visits provide intelligence
to gain assurance that there are robust measures in place within a provider
organisation to ensure high quality care, or to identify areas where improvement is
required.
The CCG also uses information from a variety of sources to develop a programme of
targeted quality assurance visits. This includes safeguarding information, complaints,
staff surveys, the Care Quality Commission (CQC), Healthwatch visits, GP quality
alerts as well as key quality and performance information. Where gaps are identified
from the quality assurance visit, an action plan is developed to ensure all issues are
addressed and any learning is embedded.

Quality highlights in 2019/2020









Implementation of a focused performance and quality process to facilitate the
relationship between performance and the real impact it has on patients.
Through the serious incident panel process at the CCG, a number of key
quality improvements have been identified which has improved patient safety.
For example identifying themes and trends from falls serious incidents in an
acute trust has led to improvements in patient outcomes
Improvements have been made in a number of areas following the work
undertaken at the CQRG including ensuring that all providers have a robust
process for identifying and dealing with adverse incidents, a well-established
process for learning across the Health and Social Care System when a Health
Care Acquired Infection (HCAI) occurs in order to prevent further infections
and a process established to eliminate the use of inappropriate mixed sex
accommodation.
Implemented a programme of service deep dives on quality at the provider
CQRG meetings.
Reviewed the CCG Quality Strategy which was approved at the Integrated
Governance Committee
GP-led cancer assurance established through the Greenwich CCG cancer
locality meetings to manage risk and improve patient outcomes
42






The CCG’s quality team has completed a programme of quality assurance
visits. Joint visits have also taken place in partnership with the Local Authority
in relation to care homes.
Completed Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) to ensure that possible or actual
plans or changes in commissioned services are assessed and the potential
risks and consequences on quality are considered.
Met with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to discuss providers where
there are concerns as well as areas of good practice.
Patient safety programmes aimed at reducing the likelihood of patient safety
incidents/events occurring in community settings. Some examples are:
-

-

In 2019/2020, NHS Greenwich CCG with the Royal Borough of Greenwich
jointly appointed a Gram Negative Blood Stream Infection (GNBSI)
Surveillance Officer to support with reducing GNBSIs. NHS Greenwich
CCG has also led / facilitated a number of initiatives to promote the use of
the sepsis pathway in primary and community care settings.
Sepsis prevention plans for 2019/20 include:
 Supporting GP Sepsis Leads to undertake specific training and
competency assessments.
 Promoting the use of the sepsis pathway by all staff working in
general practice.

Oxleas Foundation Trust
The CQC undertook a focused inspection of Oxleas Foundation Trust’s Pre
Admission Suite (PAS) on 15 August 2019 and the report was published on 1
October 2019. The inspection was undertaken following information of concern
received about the length of time patients stayed in the PAS and complaints from
patients and relatives. As this was a focused inspection of the PAS, the CQC did not
change the previous good rating for this service.
Following this inspection, the CQC issued a letter of intent to the provider informing it
that they proposed to impose conditions on the provider’s registration in accordance
with section 31 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 because of the serious
concerns they had about the length of time patients were staying in the PAS, the
inadequate facilities provided to patients for lengths of stay beyond 12 hours, and the
overly restrictive environment. The CQC asked the trust to take immediate action to
address the issues.
The trust responded quickly describing the actions it was taking to minimise risks to
patients in the service. The trust informed the CQC it had decided to close the PAS
as it failed to meet essential standards of quality and safety in respect of length of
stay; patient privacy, dignity and comfort; and access to and from the unit for
informal patients. The PAS closed on 27 August 2019 and the trust put contingency
plans in place. Following the closure of the PAS, the CQC told the trust they would
take no further action in response to the serious concerns they had identified at the
time of the inspection.
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In 2019/2020 the trust met a programme of service deep dives agreed at the CQRG
for mental health and community services. The deep dives covered patient safety,
patient experience, clinical effectiveness, risks and actions being taken to manage
any gaps identified. In 2019/20, the trust presented a deep dive into its Improving
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service. This highlighted the continued
risk around waiting times for treatment resulting in increased complaints about the
service. The trust also highlighted the impact the current financial challenges were
having on waiting times and the waiting lists increasing more than predicted. As a
result of this deep dive, the CCG invited the trust to its Integrated Governance
Committee to discuss the issues raised and what could be done to support the trust.
Subsequently, the CCG agreed to support the trust with additional investment to
recruit additional staff to mitigate this risk.
Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
As part of the trust’s commitment to the quality agenda, it appointed a Director of
Quality Improvement (QI) in 2019/2020. The trust has prioritised quality improvement
particularly in relation to the ability to impact on organisational change and the
delivery of improved patient outcomes. To create a culture of continuous quality
improvement and ensure improvement is everyone’s business, the trust has put in
place a clear learning/training strategy for QI.
In 2019/2020, the trust deep dives at the CQRG focused on the seven day services
audit, maternity, surgery, electronic discharge scheme, emergency care, cancer,
medicines management, end of life care and nutritional care. The trust continues to
implement its CQC improvement plan following its CQQ inspection report published
in January 2019 where it was rated as requires improvement. The CQC
improvement plan is regularly monitored at the CQRG and the trust is on track with
the must do actions and should do actions on the improvement plan.
We have worked closely with the trust during the year to seek assurance of the
quality of the services it provides and have appreciated the open and frank
discussions that we have been able to have at the CQRG and at other meetings. We
have been part of the trust’s internal and external peer review programme and the
trust has responded to our challenges quickly and clearly when we have sought
further clarification or have expressed concerns.
However, there is still much to do and the pace of improvement needs to ensure the
trust is to keep moving forward. For example, the Care Quality Commission found
that the trust must ensure that it employs sufficient staff to maintain safe care, it must
improve the management of medicines and it must improve its performance against
the NHS Constitution Standards (i.e. reduce waiting times at A&E and reduce waiting
times for treatments). The CCG will continue to work with the trust to ensure
sustainable improvements are made and further work to get to ‘good’, are sustained.
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Safeguarding adults and children
Safeguarding adults

Adult safeguarding activity has continued to increase in Greenwich following the
further implementation of the Care Act 2014 and associated statutory guidance
relevant to safeguarding. The last year has seen a decrease in the number of
safeguarding alerts reported from care homes and an increase in the number from
acute hospitals. The highest number of safeguarding concerns raised continues to
be relating to neglect, followed by financial abuse and then physical abuse; this is
consistent with data from across London.
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) applications also continue to see sustained
growth and, although the local authority (as the supervisory body) has improved the
process, authorising these within statutory timeframes remains challenging. The
Government has introduced legislation to replace DoLS with a new process called
Liberty Protection Safeguards in October 2020, the aim of which is to streamline the
processes required to authorise deprivations of liberty for people who lack mental
capacity.
Together with the local authority we monitor the quality of care in nursing homes
across Greenwich, with a focus on care homes which have been rated as
inadequate or requiring improvement by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). At the
time of this report nine out of ten nursing homes in Greenwich are rated by CQC as
good; this is within the context of a fragile care home market with workforce
problems, changing ownership and clinical leadership challenges. In the last year
one care home was rated as inadequate by CQC and subsequently closed (for
commercial reasons) resulting in the loss of a significant number of nursing home
beds in Greenwich. A jointly commissioned community rehabilitation unit was also
rated as inadequate by CQC and robust scrutiny and support continues jointly led by
the CCG and local authority.
Responsibilities in high-risk areas such as Prevent and Modern Slavery have also
increased; Greenwich has a well-defined multi-agency referral and management
system for Prevent referrals (Channel Panel) to reduce the risks associated with
extremist radicalisation. The CCG has also teamed with the local authority
safeguarding and community safety teams to provide multi-agency Modern Slavery
awareness training to staff. CCG staff are required to complete mandatory e-learning
packages for Prevent and Adult Safeguarding.
The Safeguarding Adult Board, of which the CCG is a statutory partner, has
commissioned seven safeguarding adult reviews (SARs) which must occur where an
adult at risk of abuse or neglect has died or suffered a serious injury, and there is a
suspicion of neglect or abuse and a multi-agency failure to protect the person. Three
of these SARs have been published, and the reports and action plans can be found
at www.greenwichsafeguardingadults.org.uk/royal-greenwich-safeguarding-adultsboard/safeguarding-adult-review. Themes identified include the mental health care of
perpetrators and victims, poor quality care in care homes and self-neglect in the
community.
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Recommendations from Domestic Homicide Reviews locally have identified that
primary care staff need further education and awareness raising in the area of
domestic abuse. In partnership with the local authority community safety team we
continue to work towards commissioning the IRIS (Identification and Referral to
Improve Safety) programme, a domestic abuse package targeted explicitly at
improving identification and referrals in primary care.”

Safeguarding children

Safeguarding children and young people is at the heart of all we do in NHS
Greenwich CCG. We ensure providers from which we commission services have
effective safeguarding arrangement in place. We have continued to effectively meet
all our statutory duties with regard to safeguarding children through the services we
commission for the residents and particularly the children and young people of
Greenwich.
The CCG represents the health economy in the new tripartite partnership of health,
police and children social services which replaced local safeguarding children
boards. We have worked effectively with partners to ensure the transition was
seamless and continued to embed the new partnership working arrangements.
In 2019/20 our approach was to ensure safeguarding professionals played an
integral role in the commissioning cycle, from procurement to quality assurance and
that our commissioned services effectively protect children and families against
abuse and neglect.
In light of the above, safeguarding professionals joined the quality leads to carry out
announced and unannounced assurance visits to the health providers we
commission including local GP surgeries. Additionally we have continued the work
with local practices to ensure they have effective safeguarding systems in place
consistent with statutory requirements and national guidelines. A comprehensive
safeguarding resource pack has been developed for primary care and the CCG
provides a dedicated direct safeguarding phone line for support and advice on
safeguarding matters to GPs and providers.
Our safeguarding children training data shows excellent improvement in general
practice staff training uptake with a sustained subsequent attendance at other
training events. Our supervision records remain consistent with good practice. We
have continued to improve the work already began in raising awareness of learning
from child practice reviews in primary care settings and health providers. Relevant
learning from these reviews has been embedded appropriately in the training we
deliver to GPs, community pharmacists and other professionals. In keeping with
good practice, we also rolled out safeguarding children training to Community
Pharmacists and Trainee GPs. Information packs were also sent to local Dental
practices and Optical services in Greenwich.
We provide advice on monitoring of contracts, service level agreements and service
specifications to ensure the quality of provision for children and monitoring of
provider compliance against safeguarding standards remains robust.
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Greenwich had a recent Ofsted inspection with a good rating across the board and a
Joint Target Area Inspection (JTAI) focused on childhood sexual exploitation,
missing from home and gang involvement. The inspectors highlighted the good work
we do in safeguarding and child protection in the Greenwich local area.
Commendations were given for our prompt completion of actions generated from
previous inspection recommendations.
The hallmark of our safeguarding assurance work includes robust public
engagement, which includes face to face campaigns to raise awareness of child
safeguarding issues. We also disseminate culturally relevant information leaflets to
professionals as well as poster placements in local GP practices.
There has been a consistent drop in the numbers of looked after children and the
designated nurse works with the nursing team to ensure high quality health
assessments are carried out. The looked after children nursing team has now
merged with the looked after child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS)
team and despite challenges the team has continued to strive to fulfil their statutory
responsibilities. This was recognised in the recent Ofsted report which stated that
‘the health needs of children looked after are identified well and are reflected in their
care plans”, “health assessments are consistently undertaken in a timely manner”,
“the assessments are thorough and result in detailed healthcare plans”.,“children’s
emotional health needs are prioritised and a range of appropriate support is available
to Greenwich young people”.

Engaging people and communities - patient and public involvement
We are delighted to have been rated green star outstanding for our patient and
public involvement by NHS England in July 2019 and committed to building on this.
Thank you to everyone who has worked with us throughout 2019 and 2020.
Our approach
Engagement is a key priority for the CCG, and one of our corporate objectives. We
work to our statutory duty to involve the public under section 14Z2 of the Health &
Social Care Act 2012. Effective engagement is an important part of everybody's role,
with the communications and engagement team providing guidance and support. We
strive to actively involve local people and service users to plan, design and feedback
on local services, and we are committed to building relationships with our
communities to understand their needs, so that we can plan services accordingly.
We engage with our local communities to:





identify health needs and aspirations, develop our commissioning intentions
and priorities
design and improve services
take patients' views into account when we buy services
use patients' experience to improve safety and quality of care

We have a strategic approach to Patient Public Engagement outlined by our Patient
Public Engagement Strategy and underpinned by our mission, vision and principles.
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Our strategy sets out our vision, approach and infrastructure for delivering our legal
duties to engage patients and the public in our work. By engaging with the
local community, we understand the needs, concerns and experiences of residents
so we can deliver the best possible health services. We understand that the best
way to achieve positive health outcomes for the people of Greenwich is by putting
local people at the heart of our decision making.

NHS Greenwich CCG involves Greenwich patients, partners and residents
throughout the commissioning cycle to ensure that local people have a strong voice.
Our efforts to improve the way we involve and engage public and patients in the past
year resulted in an improved assurance rating with NHS England between 2017 and
2018 from "Requires Improvement" to "Good" for this important area. We are
delighted with this progress, although we recognise that we are on a journey, and will
strive to continually improve in this area.
There are a several ways patients can get involved and influence services, including:









Joining a mailing list to be kept informed about the CCG’s work, events and
involvement opportunities
Through their GP practice’s Patient Participation Group
Greenwich-wide PPG network
At engagement events
At Governing Body meetings and other key CCG meetings for example
primary care commissioning committee meetings
Through their local Healthwatch
Through Greenwich Diabetes Group
Remotely, by telephone, post or email, and at events and meetings.
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We can provide information in other languages both verbal and written, braille, large
font, easy read and can arrange for support during meetings and events so that
everyone can participate. Contact details are:
Email: greccg.nhsgreenwichccg@nhs.net
Telephone: 020 3049 9000
By post:
FREEPOST ENGAGEMENT RESPONSE
Communications and Engagement Team
NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group
The Woolwich Centre
35 Wellington Street
Woolwich
London SE18 6ND
Our Governing Body meetings are held in public and we host a dedicated session at
each Governing Body meeting giving local people opportunity to engage with the
CCG leadership and raise their concerns first hand. All Governing Body agendas
and papers are published on our website.
Two of our Governing Body members have responsibilities for patient and public
engagement - one lay member as lead on the Governing Body, and one GP lead
who has patient and public engagement in their portfolio. Meetings see regular
attendance from members of the public and Healthwatch Greenwich, and the
dedicated session is popular, with questions raised at each meeting.
We use our stakeholder networks and existing channels and groups as forums for
discussion. We have strong links with Healthwatch Greenwich, METRO GAVS, RBG
and community groups and are constantly working to build and extend our
stakeholder network.
We value our partnerships as the best way of working and delivering meaningful
outreach and engagement. We collaborate with partners in Greenwich and beyond.
Our partners guide our engagement and equalities activity and provide independent
assurance on our work programmes. This partnership approach gives us the
greatest reach to Greenwich communities, and this allows us to develop the most
comprehensive plans for future services.
We are part of a Greenwich-wide communications and engagement group which has
enabled coordinated campaigns and engagement opportunities throughout the year
and we work closely with partners across south east London, and pan-London. We
are delighted that the initial Greenwich Charitable Trust small grants programme with
our local community and voluntary sector has reaped rewards in the year in
supporting initiatives for children and young people and mental health, and we are
extending the programme in 2020/21 with a larger budget, and including all of the
Greenwich strategy priority areas. The fund plays an important part in ensuring that
residents of Greenwich are involved in decisions about their own health and
wellbeing.
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Patient Reference Group
The CCG Patient Reference Group (PRG) is a committee of the Governing Body. It
provides oversight and assurance of the CCG’s engagement and equalities
activities, and oversees the CCG’s work to develop and support Patient Participation
Groups (PPGs).
The PRG is chaired by the lay member for Patient Public Engagement on the
Governing Body and its membership includes representatives from local GP Patient
Participation Groups (PPG), Public Health, Healthwatch and voluntary organisational
representatives such as GrIP (Greenwich Inclusion Project).
The PRG oversees delivery of our patient and public engagement strategy. The PRG
meets ten times each year and reports to the Governing Body regularly with minutes.
Accessibility
We are committed to making our communications as accessible and appealing as
possible for each of our audiences. Some examples include:







Developing Easy Read materials for people with learning disabilities.
Creating a plain English and visually appealing annual review of the year as
an accessible alternative to our annual report.
Using translator services and pictures for community engagement events most recently in our Nepalese outreach work.
Providing visual and audible accessible presentations for our engagement
events.
Considering the many and varied needs of our communities.
Offering our publications in alternative formats.

Lived with experience engagement approach
The mental health and learning disability commissioning team includes a lived
experience team member whose role it is to:
 Engage with existing service users (through their support groups).
 Engage with different communities and community organisations throughout
the borough, to encourage conversations around maintaining good mental
health / dealing with poor mental health.
 Act as informal liaison between residents of the borough and the CCG,
helping residents understand the general purpose and current objectives of
Greenwich CCG.
 Collect information on residents’ experiences of services within the borough,
to help inform the work of commissioners.
 Build relationships with stakeholders / partner organisations / third sector
organisations / community groups, in order to help inform and / or facilitate
joint initiatives.
Greenwich as a national exemplar
The outstanding work undertaken in collaboration with the CCG’s communications
and engagement team, has led to a request to present our best practice in a national
webinar as part of the national improvement support offer from NHS England.
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Earlier in the year, the CCG presented two national webinars to share our best
practice and outcomes in the national stakeholder survey, in which we made huge
improvements, and finished top of the country in terms of participation. We are
delighted to share our approach and outcomes, acknowledging the wealth of insight
and feedback both of these exercises have given us.
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Clinical engagement
As a clinically led organisation, part of the CCG’s remit is to ensure that we have
clinical leadership and engagement on all our pathway work. The CCG achieves this
through several clinical engagement mechanisms.
Each GP on the Governing Body carries a portfolio within these areas:

We employ GP project leads to work alongside commissioning staff. During 2019/20
the CCG engaged GPs in the development and planning of pathways in the following
areas:
GP project lead
Mental health and learning disabilities
Workforce and education
Medicines management
Individual funding requests
End of life and cancer

Session/week
2/3
1
2
1
2/3

We engage with our GP members through local network meetings and meetings of
the Council of Members (CoM). The Council met on six occasions in 2019/20.
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Membership engagement
A summary of key developments and achievements in 2019/20 is as follows:
 The CoM
o Elected an independent GP Chair and approved its terms of reference.
o Received regular presentations from senior officers and discussed
proposals for south east London CCG system reform.
o Discussed the development of Primary Care Networks

Sustainability and transformation partnership
Our Healthier South East London
In June 2019, Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership became the capital’s first Integrated Care System (ICS),
bringing together all the organisations involved in planning and delivery of health and
care for the 1.9 million people who live in our six boroughs. These include local
authorities; clinical commissioning groups (CCGs); and providers of primary,
community, mental health and acute services.
The organisations in south east London have a strong history of collaboration and
together, we are committed to delivering our ambition – a stretching vision that
responds to the significant challenges our system currently faces, many of which are
longstanding and require a more transformative approach to resolve. Significant
health inequalities are found in our system – we have a vibrant, diverse and mobile
population with extremes of deprivation and wealth.
There are a range of risk factors that impact the health and wellbeing and life
expectancy of south east Londoners and the most significant of these align with the
risk factors identified nationally within the NHS’ Long Term Plan.
In January 2020, the OHSEL Board endorsed the south east London integrated care
system response to the NHS’ Long Term Plan at its meeting held in public.
Developed with input from all partners within our system, including patients and the
public, our response sets out how we will deliver national and local priorities,
complementary to other operational and strategic plans that we have across and
within south east London.
In implementing the plans set out within our response, we will continue to engage
with our stakeholders and evaluate and monitor the potential impacts building on our
initial equality impact assessment (included in our response document above).
The ICS has set out the following five priorities in response to the NHS Long
Term Plan:
1. Integrated community-based care: By working at borough and
neighbourhood level so that we are delivering truly integrated and
multidisciplinary care in the community for those who need it, with a
consistent offer across our population.
2. Reduce pressure on urgent and emergency care: By redesigning our
urgent and emergency care pathways to ensure patients get timely access to
the right level of care for their needs, relieving pressure on A&E departments
and hospital services.
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3. Improve planned care outcomes and performance: By redesigning
planned care to ensure that residents in south east London have timely and
consistent access to services.
4. Deliver better outcomes for major health conditions: Our population
needs assessment demonstrated that more people are living with three or
more long term conditions. We will focus on prevention and early detection
alongside changes to deliver high quality and consistent services across
pathways.
5. Deliver financial savings and achieve agreed financial targets: By
building on our progress to date around financial planning, financial risk
management and delivery of system savings, including a return on
investments made in community-based services alongside improvements in
productivity and efficiency.
Our engagement
South east London is culturally diverse, with each of the six boroughs having unique
populations. To evaluate the breadth of our engagement and make sure we have
heard from a full range of people, we reviewed our engagement activity to:
• identify any groups we haven’t managed to hear from to make sure we focus
on these groups in future, and
• make sure feedback relating to equality impacts has been considered as part
of our plans.
To support the development of our plans in response to the Long Term Plan, we
undertook a programme of patient and public engagement between July and August
2019 to understand views on how to get the best start in life; young people’s mental
health; daytime hospital appointments; access to services; social isolation; working
with charities, and services working together. Our engagement included:
• 12 face-to-face events across the six boroughs, in which almost 290 people
participated;
• a series of conversations with 19 community groups (involving 200
participants), focusing on reaching communities we ordinarily wouldn’t hear
from in the NHS;
• an online survey.
South east London Healthwatch organisations also ran their own survey and used
focus groups to speak to those with mental health issues, learning disabilities and
autism – reaching nearly 1,000 people.
Examples of how we engage with patients and the public as we work on
transforming our services include:
Elective Orthopaedic Clinical Network: This network is made up of a wide variety
of healthcare professional staff members and patients who have received planned
orthopaedic surgery through South East London Orthopaedic Services. The network
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has focused on delivering quality improvement projects to improve the quality and
consistency in outcomes and experience for the 12,000 patients who receive surgical
treatment each year as well as the appropriate support guidance to patients for
whom surgical treatment is not the best option available to them. Patient and Public
Voices (PPVs) volunteers advised clinicians and managers in the development and
redesign of the care pathway process. In addition, they were involved in the design
of the pre-referral screening checks to make sure that patients are as physiologically
fit as possible before surgical treatment.
Maternity Voices:
There are Maternity Voice Partnerships (MVP) across all six boroughs of south east
London (SEL), which are made up of women who have had recent experience of
local maternity services. The Local Maternity Services (LMS) welcomes MVP
representation on its workstreams and has an MVP chairs workstream to discuss
and share specific information regarding user involvement in service design.
Some highlights from 2019/2020
Mental Health
Perinatal mental health
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SlaM), Oxleas NHS Foundation
Trust community specialist perinatal mental health services and Bromley, Lewisham
& Greenwich Mind are working in partnership to develop resources to support dads,
partners and significant others during the perinatal period. Evidence shows that up to
10% of fathers experience perinatal depression. Information about what works well
for men will be used to develop support leaflets and online resources for partners for
guided self-help and signposting to mental health services.
Individual Placement Support (employment)
We have been supporting more people in south east London with severe mental
illness, to find and maintain paid employment via our individual placement support
(IPS) employment services. The programme helps patients under the care of
secondary and community mental health services to achieve their individual career
preferences, based on their aspirations and life goals.
Currently, we have six IPS services across south east London. The Bromley and
Greenwich service is delivered by Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich Mind in
partnership with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, which has been awarded ‘centre of
excellence status’ for IPS delivery. So far, in 2019-2020, of the 67 people referred
into the service, 39 are being supported by the service and of those, 27 have been
helped into paid employment.
Children and Young People
In October 2019, we set up a network that brings together a community of health and
social care professionals, commissioners, patients and parents/carers to work in
partnership to help improve the quality of life for children and young people with
asthma in London.
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Following a successful pilot in Lewisham, in February 2019, we launched a digital
mental health support service for children and young people called Kooth. Kooth is
freely available to children and young people in south east London and includes the
provision of online self-care tools.
In May 2019, we hosted a leadership workshop for learning disability and autism
services across south east London that focused on developing a vision for children
and young people to help address any gaps in care – which can be found in our
response to the NHS Long Term Plan.
Cancer
Queen Elizabeth Hospital (QEH) and the Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH)
have introduced a new diagnostic service for cancer at both sites. Endobronchial
Ultrasound (EBUS) is a minimally invasive procedure used in the diagnosis and
staging of lung cancers. The procedure can both diagnose the type of lung cancer
and accurately stage the disease, which will help reduce stress and anxiety for
patients dealing with a cancer diagnosis.
The PRUH started their service in September 2019 and QEH in October 2019.
Maternity
The Continuity of Care ambition, resulting from the Better Births review (2016) aims
to make maternity care more personalised, informed and safe by building a stronger
relationship between women and their midwives. Research shows how, with this kind
of care, women are 19 per cent less likely to lose their baby before 24 weeks; 15 per
cent less likely to have epidurals (to block pain) and 24 per cent less likely to
experience a premature birth.
Community based care
More than 50 clinical directors have been appointed to support the leadership of the
35 new Primary Care Networks (PCNs) across south east London and OHSEL is
supporting the development of a Clinical Directors Network. The network aims to
bring the clinical leadership of Primary Care Networks together with other clinical
directors of community, mental health and acute services to share good practice and
agree opportunities for joint work across south east London.
These will be used to boost out of hospital care and improve working between
primary and community health services.
Digital
Patient Records: This year, we successfully scanned around 250,000 paper patient
records in 37 GP practices across the six south east London boroughs. The process
takes old paper records and moves them online, so they are electronically attached
to each person's care record; helping to complete patient information and freeing up
space in GP practices for clinical use.
This year we will be rolling out the service to additional practices in south east
London.
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Digital First: We have just completed the first year of a five-year Digital First
programme of work across primary care, which saw Lambeth Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) appointed as the Digital Accelerator Centre for south
east London.
Lambeth CCG has now been tasked to look at new ideas and projects that will bring
other GP practices in south east London in line with their standards. This includes
improvements to their telephone systems and the set-up of an e-hub pilot in one of
their Primary Care Networks (PCNs). The aim is to look at new ways of working that
will reduce pressure on GPs through the effective use of technology including remote
consultations (that need to be in place by end of March 2020) and the NHS app.
Sharing of Care Records and Partnership working: Over the last 12-18 months,
we have been working to improve the sharing of care records across GP practices,
hospitals, mental health and community and social care services in London. By
working more closely together, we have been able to improve decision-making and
quality of care and reduce duplication and professionals are also able to plan
services and care more proactively and effectively.
Workforce
Our Healthier South East London and South West London Health & Care
Partnership, with support from Health Education England, are working together to
find ways to promote and maximise the benefits of apprenticeships in health and
social care organisations across south London. The aim is to help key provider
partners to meet the government apprenticeship targets and use levy funds
effectively, for the benefit of their current and future workforce.
In south east London, we have brought providers together to share good practice
and innovation and develop and promote collaboration. The gifting or transfer option
allows providers to transfer up to 25% of their levy fund to smaller, health and social
care organisations, such as GP practices, local charities and other organisations in
the local community, such as schools.
As a result, the overall levy spend is increasing and our partners are planning to
increase the take-up of apprenticeship programmes and numbers during this year.
In Bexley, for example, the training hub is leading the way on implementing
apprenticeship training in their local GP Practices and is set to have up to 40
apprentices in 2020, including new digital apprentices, supported by levy transfers
from our levy paying partners.
We have also been promoting the role of nursing associates in primary, community
and social care. To support this, we arranged three workshops across south east
London and developed a leaflet introducing the role in partnership with South West
London Health & Care Partnership and Health Education England.
The nursing associate (NA) is the newest member of the nursing family and is a
support role that sits alongside existing healthcare support workers and fully qualified
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registered nurses. An NA can deliver hands-on, person-centred care for people of all
ages in a variety of settings in health and social care organisations, working under
the direction of a registered nurse. Our providers are embracing this role, including
general practice, with many NAs now employed and many more enrolled on trainee
nursing associate apprenticeship programmes.

Healthy London Partnership
NHS Greenwich CCG, along with all of London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London
Authority, London Councils, Public Health England and NHS England (London)
contributed funding towards Healthy London Partnership (HLP) in 2019/20. The aim
was to bring together the NHS and partners in London to work towards the common
goals set out in Better Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View and
the devolution agreement.
HLP works as a partnership across London’s health and care system and beyond to
achieve these goals. This includes NHS organisations in London, including NHS
Greenwich CCG, NHS England, NHS Improvement, hospital trusts and providers, as
well as working across health and care with the Greater London Authority (GLA), the
Mayor of London, Public Health England and London Councils. Additionally, HLP
hosts the London Health and Care Strategic Partnership Board which provides
oversight and leadership for devolution plans, working closely with the London
Health Board secretariat. HLP is supporting the development of the refreshed shared
vision for health and care to ensure all partners are clear about their role in making
London the world’s healthiest city.
Again, 2019/20 has been a busy year for Healthy London Partnership, but another in
which we feel confident we have provided strong support for partners and the
London system as a whole. Through successful partnership working across health
and care in London, HLP has helped to deliver on a range of programmes, outputs
and achievements spanning primary and community care, secondary care and
mental health, as well as those focussed on integration of health and care and placebased care. All this work is part of the partnership’s collective aim to make London
the world’s healthiest city.
Working with partners across London’s health and care system the London Vision
was developed and launched at the London Health Board Conference in October
2019, the conference was chaired by Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London, at City Hall.
The vision restates a shared ambition to be the world’s healthiest global city as well
as the best global city in which to receive health and care services. It sets out
shared priorities across 10 population health areas of focus and system enablers
where it is recognised that partnership action is needed - London-wide together with
local action working with Londoners.
HLP director, Shaun Danielli, outlines how by working with its NHS and wider
partners, HLP has contributed to improving Londoners’ health and wellbeing, so
everyone can live healthier lives:
“Healthy London Partnership has continued to support the transformation of health
and care for Londoners in 2019/20. There has been significant progress in areas
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such as mental health, greater use of technology, developing primary care networks
and prevention.
“None of this would be possible without key agencies, organisations and people
working together. Partnership working is the only way in which we will tackle
London’s most complex health and care challenges and ensure that we meet our
shared aim of making London the healthiest global city.
“As we look ahead, the NHS Long Term Plan and the London Vision gives us a huge
opportunity to transform the way we support the health and care of Londoners. All
those involved is looking forward to shaping and implementing improvements for
London.”
Over the last year HLP has been working with the London’s Improvement and
Transformation Architecture (LITA) programme to develop a new organisation,
working within and supporting new London wide systems and ways of working. It is
recognised for LITA to be a success it needs to be truly embedded within the
system, and not a provider to it.
LITA looks to bring together bringing HLP and others that support transformation at
system level to work together better, bringing together skills, capacity and subject
matter expertise in a flexible and outcome focused way.
Other engagement highlights in 2019/20 include a number of significant projects
undertaken by Thrive LDN, the citywide movement to improve the mental health and
wellbeing of all Londoners. In January 2020, Thrive LDN published an interim
Insights Report which outlined a number of significant projects undertaken in 2019.
The report details how more than 200,000 people took part in events linked to the
Thrive LDN movement. These collective citywide and local activities are having a
positive impact on the mental health of Londoners, with highlights including:
• More than 35,000 Londoners have supported a citywide Zero Suicide London
campaign by taking free, online suicide prevention training.
• 1,200 people participated in film-based outreach and events for Londoners
from intersectional and marginalised communities.
• 450 people attended a young Londoner-led World Mental Health Day Festival.
• More than 100 new Youth Mental Health First Aid Instructors were trained and
have delivered Youth Mental Health First Aid training to more than 1,300
education staff.
More recently, in partnership with the Mental Health Foundation (MHF), Thrive
LDN published Londoners did – a report which outlines many examples of local
efforts and community-based actions which have come as a result of Thrive LDN’s
community conversation workshops held in 2018. The report highlights actions
across half of London’s boroughs which are now supporting people to build strength
and resilience.
Further focus on children and young people was demonstrated through London’s
annual #AskAboutAsthma campaign. Led by HLP in conjunction with NHS London
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region, the campaign coincided with the start of the new school year when hospital
admission rates for asthma (week 38) are at their highest. The campaign reached
over 17.5 million people online in 2019. Additionally, HLP has developed the London
asthma standards for children and young people, bringing ambitions for how asthma
care should be delivered across the city with national and local standards, along with
an online toolkit for staff which to date has been accessed just over 19,000 times.
This year has also bought the NHS GO app into the NHS Apps Library, designed by
young people for young people, NHS GO has been downloaded over 80,000 times
via the Apple and Google Play Stores.
The London Mental Health Dashboard makes a wide range of London’s mental
health data publicly accessible in one place to act as a strategic planning tool
bringing together information from a range sources and organisations to provide an
overall picture of mental health across the capital. The main purpose of the
dashboard is to bring the best information we have about mental health together in
one place, as a resource for everyone with an interest in improving care.
The Mental Health Transformation Team have also welcomed the development of
HoNOS and DIALOG, designed to promote the use of patient outcome measures in
Mental Health.
The Transforming Cancer Services Team (TCST), funded and in partnership with
Macmillan Cancer Support, has produced a suite of documents for psychosocial
support for people affected by Cancer, these include commissioning guidance, an
integrated pathway, mapping of services, business case and service specification. A
toolkit focusing on inequalities was also produced with an aim to reduce inequalities
in cancer care and outcomes in London and West Essex; it provides patient
experience dimensions and recommendations for all organisations that plan,
commission and deliver cancer care for Londoners.
Urgent suspected cancer referral activity data is presented in a useful interactive
dashboard developed by HLP and was updated earlier this year with the latest data.
Through HLP, London’s A&E departments and police forces have worked together to
develop a handover process for voluntary mental health patients in emergency
departments, which has resulted in 83% fewer people going missing from
A&E during a mental health crisis compared to the previous year. The handover
process was awarded the Best Patient Safety Initiative in A&E at the 2018 HSJ
Awards.
There has also been a strong focus on mental health transformation across London
during 2019/20. We saw the NHS in London invest an extra £6 million into specialist
mental health services to support women during pregnancy and in the first year after
giving birth. From March 2019, services for perinatal mental health problems will be
available across all of London. The extra resource has resulted in 134.7 new
perinatal staff and all 32 London boroughs have a perinatal mental health team, this
important specialist care is now offered to nearly 5,300 women a year. HLP also held
a successful Perinatal Mental Health conference in February of this year at the Royal
College of Psychiatrists bringing together over 173 guests including, lived experience
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experts, midwives, student midwives, psychiatrists, pharmacists, nurses and other
health professionals from across the region. The team were also shortlisted for the
2019 HSJ Awards for the Acute or Specialist Service Redesign Initiative.
Work to update the successful Mental Health in Schools Toolkit, which was first
launched 2018, took place in 19/20 and the updated suite of resources will be
relaunched over the coming weeks with updates on guidance, practical tools and
resources. The toolkit provides information for schools, governors and
commissioners on mental health and emotional wellbeing in schools.
2019 also reached a milestone for London’s dynamic e-learning portal, Paediatric
Critical Care in Practice (PCCP) for acute paediatric health professionals. To
celebrate the first-year anniversary we launched a new module on reducing levels of
consciousness and neuroprotection within the portal. Since launching in 2018, over
800 professionals across London’s 30 acute paediatric hospital sites have registered
to use PCCP.
Elsewhere a new resource on gathering feedback from families and carers when a
child or young person dies has been designed to help support professionals in their
work with bereaved families and carers. NHS England has expressed an interest in
publishing this resource nationally through their Gateway process.
Since launching in 2017, Good Thinking – London’s unique digital mental wellbeing
service – had supported over 300,000 Londoners to actively tackle anxiety,
sleeplessness, stress and depression. Good Thinking has offered personalised new
ways to improve mental wellbeing for Londoners London has also become the first
city to enable a majority of its general practitioners (GPs) to refer patients to a series
of clinically-proven, commissioned digital therapeutic apps, to support people
experiencing the four most common mental health concerns; low mood, stress, sleep
and anxiety. This move sees Good Thinking enabling approximately 75 per cent of
London GPs to digitally refer health apps to their patients for free.
In 2019/20, Urgent and Emergency Care was naturally under the spotlight in London,
and the team delivered excellent supporting work for the capital. Not least with the
NHSmail/Social Care Digital Discovery project.
This was designed to help provide social care colleagues with secure email to
communicate effectively and resulted in greater NHS collaboration, efficiencies and
security across health and care.
Between April and December 2019, numbers of London care homes and domiciliary
care providers with access to NHSmail climbed impressively, from 26 and 16 up to
118 and 22 respectively. Now, more than 400 new social care colleagues have
access since launch.
In November 2019 the team received a Health Tech News Award and in February
2020 they claimed the prestigious ‘Best Consultancy Partnership with the NHS’ prize
in the HSJ Partnership Awards.
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Elsewhere, strong commissioning support is clearly central to supporting redesign
and transformation for London’s health and care systems and central to that is this of
course is the primary care.
The Transforming Primary Care team’s ‘Next Steps to the Strategic Commissioning
Framework – a vision for strengthening general practice’, ran from November 2018
until November 2019. The initiative brought together various stakeholders to agree a
clear, achievable vision for how general practice organisations can work
collaboratively at scale.
The group were committed to providing practices with the resources they need to
support this change at various levels including practice, Primary Care Networks
(PCNs), and larger-scale General Practice Organisations (LGPOs).
The document itself was in an easy-to-read format with rich material to support
understanding and learning. In addition, a maturity matrix, supporting case studies
and resources were developed to support the TPC team’s work.
It was possible to provide additional at-scale transformation funding to support the
development of the project. Following London’s success in setting a vision ahead of
the Long Term Plan and national primary care developments, being able to release
transformation funding through previous success and on partnership working
approach with STPs/CCGs and other stakeholders.
The creation of a London PCN Development Support Group aimed to assist the
development and resilience of PCNs and those who work with them. This support
included helping to understand what development assistance would be beneficial,
identifying and sharing good practice, problem solving and helping the
implementation of support locally and regionally - where appropriate.
By building on its foundations of collaborative working, this initiative has helped to
support the creation of current primary care network formations. As such, some 99%
of practices in London are in a Primary Care Network with 100% patient coverage in
place and 201 Primary Care Networks formed in 2019.
A key focus of HLP’s work is shifting London’s health focus from preventing illness
towards supporting health and wellbeing and helping residents being able to make
healthy choices and adopt healthy behaviours.
Last year HLP again worked with a range of partners to working to tackle
preventable illnesses and improve Londoners’ health and wellbeing. For example, in
partnership with Healthwatch London and Groundswell, HLP produced another
20,00 ‘My right to access healthcare’ cards, to support those experiencing
homelessness access healthcare services.
HLP worked with the Fast Track Cities Initiative to secure £3m of funding over three
years from NHS England and NHS Improvement to support the drive to end the
transmission of HIV by 2030. The funding is to allow more HIV testing, ensure more
people with HIV stay on treatment and support more people with HIV to live well.
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This will be delivered by 12 voluntary sector led projects each of which will receive
QI training and coaching.
Elsewhere through partnership working in 2019, the first London Estates Strategy
was published in summer 2019, which will support a coordinated approach to using
capital and the release of surplus to requirement NHS estate, meaning much needed
money is reinvested back into London’s health and care system.
This is only a snapshot of all HLP’s work to make London the healthiest global city.
You can explore HLP’s various programmes via its website or search the HLP
resources section for publications or case studies.

Equality and diversity
Equality and diversity public sector equality duties
The public sector equality duties are of both general and specific. The broad aim of
the general equality duty is to ensure consideration and the advancement of equality
into the everyday business of all bodies subject to the duty. The general equality
duty is intended to accelerate progress towards equality for all, placing a
responsibility on bodies to consider how they can work to tackle systemic
discrimination and disadvantage affecting people with particular protected
characteristics.









Race
Disability
Sex
Age
Religion or belief
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Pregnancy and maternity

The first aim of the general equality duty is to have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited
by the Act because of any of these protected characteristics. The second aim of the
duty requires the CCG to have due regard to the need to minimise or remove
disadvantages, to take steps to meet the different needs of people with different
protected characteristics and to encourage participation in activities by those whose
participation is disproportionately low.
Meeting the public sector equality duties in 2019/20
We must comply with this general duty when ‘exercising a function’, when
formulating policy and any decisions made in applying the policy in individual cases.
Compliance with the duty should result in:


Better-informed decision-making and policy development
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A clearer understanding of the needs of service users, resulting in better
quality services which meet varied needs
More effective targeting of policy, resources and the use of regulatory powers
Better results and greater confidence in, and satisfaction with, public services
More effective use of talent in the workforce
A reduction in instances of discrimination.

With the agreed merger of the six south east London CCGs and more joint
commissioning of services across Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham the challenge
this year has been to ensure that appropriate considerations have been taken to
reflect the diversity of the populations across all the boroughs. As a result of the
implications of the internal organisational changes and their impacts on the protected
characteristics of our staff, an impact assessment for the proposed new CCG has
been completed as part of the proposed CCG’s Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
and reasonable adjustments and accommodations have been put in place to ensure
inclusive, fair and transparent processes.
In 2019/20 we launched equality and diversity guidance and targeted training for
commissioners so that appropriate consideration of Equality, Diversity and Human
Rights is given within the commissioning cycle. This resulted in raising equalities
awareness across the CCG.
Equality delivery system (EDS2) and equality impact assessments (EIA)
The CCG’s EDS2 annual assessment of how effectively the services we commission
engage with and meet the needs of nine groups with ‘protected characteristics’
outlined in the Equality Act 2010, indicates that the CCG has the right systems and
processes in place and has good leadership. However, there is still work to do
concerning the consistency of delivery and the quality of the demographic data that
should inform improvement actions, to ensure that all demographic groups are
receiving equally good treatment. NHS Greenwich CCG actively works in partnership
with provider organisations to include equality, diversity and human rights clauses
within our contracts to eliminate the recurring issue of a lack of data collection by
service providers
The equality and diversity working group (EDWG) oversees the approval of equality
impact assessments (EIA) undertaken with every business case which is part of the
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme. The group is
responsible for providing advice and assurance to the Patient Reference Group and
the Governing Body on the CCG’s compliance with the rights, duties and pledges in
relation to the:




Human Rights Act 1998
Equality Act 2010, including the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
NHS Constitution.

Recommendations from the group have been quite specific in relation to the quality
of the collection of data.
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Further work on key metrics/key performance indicators (KPIs) around
equalities in contracts.
The duty to collect this information already exists within contract for the
service providers, however the CCG will need to enforce and performance
monitor more carefully.
Robust method of collecting data on patients protected characteristics is
required.
Data collection template for providers in line with national contract.

Equality objectives 2017-21
The equality objectives reflect local equality priorities for our community. They also
reflect the key equality priorities pertinent at that time and have been aligned to
EDS2 goals and outcomes.
 Equality and inclusion will be considered at all levels within the organisation to
ensure that there is a clear and concise link between strategic thinking,
function and service improvement.
 Achieve better health outcomes with services commissioned, procured,
designed and delivered to meet the health needs of the local community that
reduce health inequalities. Ensure that these services are safe free from
mistakes, mistreatment and abuse.
 Improve patient access and experience.
 Work with stakeholder organisations to develop and improve services.
 Improving communications with people with learning disability and groups
whose voices are seldom heard.
The CCG has worked successfully to fulfilling all its equality objectives as detailed
within our commissioning intentions by delivering improved services
We determine assurance of our trusts meeting their Public Sector Equalities Duty
through monitoring the NHS Equality Delivery Systems (EDS2) and the NHS
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) of our service providers at the Provider
Clinical Quality Review Group or Contract Monitoring Meetings. As part of our
performance monitoring we work closely with trusts to improve their demographic
data collection, to enable them to assess equalities and to measure success in
addressing inequalities.
Workforce
The CCG has continued to collect and analyse workforce statistics by groups of staff
with protected characteristics enabling us to complete our Workforce Race Equality
Standards annual return and produce a detailed Workforce Race Equality Standards
Action Plan. The collection of data on the workforce by ethnicity covers both
workforce data and staff survey data to enable data analyses on staff employed and
regular reports on workforce to go to the Integrated Governance Committee. The
CCG serves an ethnically diverse population which is reflected in its workforce.
This year as a result of the WRES findings, unconscious bias training has become
part of staff statutory and mandatory training across all the six south east London
CCGs. Additionally, the CCG agreed a set of values and behaviours through staff
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engagement, providing a guide to employees including help and advice on bullying
and harassment at work.
Equality is central to the CCG, both internally and externally, to ensure that all staff
are considered in engagement. A staff health and wellbeing group has been
established within the CCG to inform policies and procedures, appraisal and
performance, organisational development, and health and wellbeing.

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR)
As with all NHS organisations, NHS Greenwich CCG needs to ensure that it has
plans in place to be able to respond to a wide range of incidents that could impact on
community health, patient care or the operation of the CCG itself. As a commissioner
of health services, the CCG is classified as a Category 2 responder under the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004, and is required to co-operate with partner organisations
such as the local authority and NHS England in delivering an incident response and
co-ordinating activities in the local health economy. To ensure emergency planning
has a high level of visibility within the CCG, an executive director is appointed as
Accountable Emergency Officer, in addition to a lay member of the governing body
holding a remit to maintain oversight of EPRR activities.
Each year, NHS organisations are required to complete a self-assessment of their
EPRR readiness, and submit this to NHS England for validation. In 2019/20, NHS
Greenwich CCG was assessed as providing a “fully compliant” level of assurance,
meeting all NHS England core standards for emergency planning. This outcome was
shared with residents at the CCGs public governing body meeting in January 2020.
The CCG has participated in a range of training and exercising initiatives to support
testing and development of our EPRR processes, as detailed below:
Date
31/01/19
21/02/19
10/07/19
24/07/19
25/09/19
10/10/19

Activity
Loggist training
EU Exit resilience testing tabletop exercise
Mass evacuation & shelter tabletop exercise
Exercise Optimus tabletop exercise
Communications cascade test
Business continuity tabletop exercise

Lead
SELCA
SELCA
London Resilience
NHS England/PHE
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG

The CCG fully participates in the Royal Borough of Greenwich resilience forum, and
the NHS England & NHS Improvement (London Region) EPRR networks.
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Signed on behalf of the Board

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Section 2 Accountability Report

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Members’ Report
Our members

As at 1 April 2019 there were 35 member practices which form the membership body
of the CCG. In November 2019 the Primary Care Commissioning Committee agreed
the business case for a three-way practice merger which meant that from 1 January
2020 there were 33 member practices.
Historically there were four GP syndicates in Greenwich with a GP Syndicate Lead
who sits on the Governing Body. With effect from July 2019 the new GP Primary
Care Networks contract went live and six Primary Care Networks were formed in
Greenwich. All practices are part of a network and each network appointed a GP
Clinical Director.
Blackheath and Charlton Primary
Care Network
Blackheath Standard PMS
Fairfield PMS
Greenwich Peninsula Practice
Manor Brook PMS
Vanbrugh Health Centre
Clinical Director: Dr Nayan Patel &
Dr Ruth Marchant (job share)
List total 46,566
Eltham Health Primary Care Network
Dr V Sandrasagra’s*
Briset Corner Surgery**
Dr Baksh’s Practice
New Eltham Medical Centre
Eltham Medical Practice
Eltham Palace Surgery
Eltham Park Surgery*
Elmstead Medical Centre
Sherard Road Medical Centre
Clinical Director: Dr Debisi Olunoyo
& Dr Nivethini Balasubramania (job
share)
List total 63,795
Heritage Primary Care Network
Triveni PMS
Bannockburn Surgery
Basildon Road Surgery
Waverley PMS
Abbeywood Surgery
Clinical Director: Dr Anuj Chatavedi
List total 30,316

Greenwich West Primary Care Network
Burney Street
Primecare PMS (South Street)
Plumbridge Medical Centre
Greenwich Peninsula
Woodlands Surgery
Clinical Director: Dr Miren Davies &
Sylvia Nyame
List total 44,412
Riverview Primary Care Network
Conway PMS
Valentine Health Partnership
TMA PMS (Gallions Reach Health
Centre)
Royal Arsenal PMS
St Marks PMS
Thamesmead Health Centre
The Trinity Medical Centre
Clinical Director: Dr Ranil Perera
List total 78,759
Unity Primary Care Network
Plumstead Health Centre PMS
Clover Health Centre
Mostafa PMS
Glyndon PMS
Clinical Director: Dr Atul Sharma
List total 37,297
69

*practices merged with Eltham Medical Practice w.e.f 1 January 2020
**closed 31 March 2020
The four GP syndicate leads remain on the Governing Body as voting members until
31 March 2020 to represent the views of the membership and act as a conduit for
engagement. From 1 April 2020, the new South East London CCG comes into effect
with a new Governing Body. The engagement structure is developing between the
CCG and the six Primary Care Network Clinical Directors.
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Governing Body

The Governing Body oversees the delivery of the CCG’s commissioning plan, sets and
leads the strategy for the CCG, and is accountable for the delivery of Greenwich CCG’s
functions as a statutory body. It monitors performance against objectives, provides effective
financial stewardship and makes sure that high standards of corporate governance are
achieved. Having GPs and other clinical members of the Governing Body ensures all our
decisions are made with clinical leadership and considering Greenwich patients.
The Governing Body meets on alternate months in public, with extra meetings as
necessary. Papers and minutes of the meetings are published on the CCG website. All
meetings have declarations of interests as an agenda item and these are recorded. All
members are required to record any interests relevant to their role on the Governing Body.
The register of interests is a public document which is open to public scrutiny and published
on the CCG website.
The composition of the Governing Body in 2019/20 (including advisory and non-executive
members) is as follows:
Name

Role

Andrew Bland #

Accountable Officer

Maggie Buckell #

Registered Nurse

Dr Vivenne Chai #
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi #

GP Member
GP Member

Maria Hawes-Gatt
(from 11.11.19)

Acting Director of Quality and Governance

Amana Humayun # +

Vice Chair and Lay Member for Audit, Remuneration and
Conflicts of Interest Guardian

Neil Kennett-Brown #

Managing Director

Yvonne Leese
(until 8.11.19)
Sarah McClinton (from 5.11.19)

Director of Quality and Integrated Governance (until
10.2.19)
Deputy Managing Director and Director of Quality (from
11.2.19)
Local Authority Nominee

Dr Adebisi Olunloyo #

GP Member

Simon Pearce (until 30.9.19)
Dr Ranil Perera # + (until 4.9.19)
Usman Niazi
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan #

Local Authority Nominee
GP Member
Chief Financial Officer
GP Member
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Richard Rice #
Dr Sabah Salman #

Lay Member Primary Care Commissioning Lead
GP Member

Robert Shaw

Chief Operating Officer

Dr Vijay Sivapalan #
sabbatical from 26.9.19 and
resigned 31.12.19)

GP Member

Dr Krishna Subbarayan #

GP Member Chair

Dr Greg Ussher # +

Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement

Dr Iyngaran Vanniasegarum # +

Secondary Care Doctor Governing Body

Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja #

GP Member

Steve Whiteman

Director of Public Health, Royal Borough of
Greenwich

# = Voting member
+ = Member of the Audit Committee
Governing Body Committees 2019/20
During 2019/20 the Governing Body was supported by the following committees








Audit
Clinical Commissioning
Financial Investment Committee (from 1.9.18)
Integrated Governance
Patient Reference Group
Primary Care Commissioning
Remuneration

Register of interests
Greenwich CCG is committed to the principles of good governance, leading to open and
transparent decision making. We have therefore established a policy to manage conflicts of
interests to ensure that decisions made by the CCG will be taken and seen to be taken
without any possibility of the influence of external or private interests. Our policy takes
account of the latest statutory guidance.
A conflict of interest is defined as:
 A conflict between the private interests and the official responsibilities of a
person in a position of trust.
 A set of conditions in which professional judgement concerning a primary
interest (such as patients’ welfare or the validity of research) tends to be unduly
influenced by a secondary interest (such as financial gain).
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 The creation of a set of circumstances where one party is favoured over another
by an inadvertent preferential interest.
In line with our Conflicts of Interest Policy, arrangements to seek and receive declarations
of interest and maintain Registers of Declared Interests and Gifts and Hospitality have been
put in place. We publish our register of interests and gifts and hospitality register on our
website.
The CCG’s conflicts of interest policy and procedures were independently audited in
2019/20 and the CCG is awaiting the auditor’s report. The previous auditors report gave the
CCG an overall rating of “reasonable assurance”, the second highest rating, with the
comment that the CCG “can take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to
manage this risk are suitably designed and consistently applied.”

Personal data related incidents
Information relating to the disclosure involving data loss and confidentiality breaches can be
found in the Annual Governance Statement.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:



So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report.
The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern slavery statement
NHS Greenwich CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
However, in line with best practice we publish a statement detailing our local approach on
our website.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed
the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Greenwich CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
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The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities),
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with
Section14R of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended)), and
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to
223J of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended)).

Under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each CCG to prepare
for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the
Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its income and expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:






Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS Greenwich CCG’s
auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware.
I also confirm that:


as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that
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I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Governance statement
Introduction and context

NHS Greenwich CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. The CCG
is required to comply with the statutory duties set out under a direction issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England) under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended.

Scope of responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set
out in this governance statement.
Governance statement to account for Covid-19
Following the emergence of Covid-19 in the UK in January 2020, and the subsequent
declaration of an NHS Level 4 incident, the CCGs control environment was dictated by the
national incident command and control structure, led by a National Strategic Commander
and feeding down to STP and CCG level via NHS England & NHS Improvement. Many of
the CCGs business as usual activity was suspended, in line with national direction, whilst all
efforts were focussed on achieving resilience and capacity in the health system to deal with
the anticipated pandemic activity. This included suspension of the majority of the CCGs
meetings. Local decision making capability was maintained through the continuation of a
weekly executive team meeting, and the ability to hold virtual meetings if required. Where
meetings held in public were scheduled, these continued to occur virtually, enabling the
CCG to maintain transparency in its decision making, and provide an ongoing platform for
key decisions to be made within the existing governance framework.
It is essential that appropriate financial controls and governance are maintained throughout
the Covid-19 response. The CCG has introduced temporary and enhanced financial
governance arrangements for the approval and capture of all Covid-19 related
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expenditure. Financial approval limits have been tightened with all requests for Covid-19
expenditure greater than £50,000 requiring Gold level command approval. For the 2019/20
financial year, the CCGs requested and received revenue funding of circa £0.6m in respect
of additional Covid-19 expenditure incurred. The relevant values have been included in the
2019/20 CCG Annual Accounts.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
Greenwich CCG is responsible for the procurement of services on behalf of the residents of
Greenwich. We are responsible for creating suitable arrangements with providers of services
that are in the best interests of the service users, and also represent value for money.
Considering the complexity and range of services offered it is vital that we have a
governance structure with sufficient delegation to ensure that decisions can be made but
also sufficient oversight to prevent any deviation from the statutes of the constitution.
Greenwich CCG is accountable for exercising its statutory functions. It may delegate
authority to act on its behalf to:
 any of its members
 the Governing Body
 employees
 any committees or sub-committees established by Greenwich CCG for the purpose
of exercising its statutory functions.
The extent of the authority of the respective bodies and individuals depends on the powers
delegated to them by Greenwich CCG as expressed through:
1. its Scheme of Reservation and Delegation; and
2. for committees, their terms of reference.
The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation sets out:
1. Those decisions that are reserved for the GP membership as a whole
2. Those decisions that are the responsibilities of the Governing Body designated
committees, the Accountable Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.
However, Greenwich CCG remains accountable for all of its functions, including those that
it has delegated.
Greenwich CCG has a robust corporate governance structure with the roles and
responsibilities of the members of the Governing Body and supporting Committees clearly
set out.
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Each member of the Governing Body shares responsibility as part of a team to ensure that
the group exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically, with good
governance and in accordance with the terms of its constitution. Each Governing Body
member brings their own unique perspective, informed by their skills, knowledge and
experience.
During 2019/20, the Governing Body has:















Agreed the CCG’s budget for the year.
Approved the south east London Treatment Access Policy.
Approved an implementation plan for Primary Care Networks.
Approved amendments to the Integrated Governance and Performance terms of
reference.
Approved the CCG’s Engagement Plan for the year.
Agreed the case for change for south east London system reform.
Approved the south east London CCG merger application.
Approved an amendment to the IVF Treatment Policy.
Received presentations from Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and on Memtal Health
Alliance working.
Approved an amendment to the Audit committee terms of reference.
Approved an action plan to address the findings of the annual 360 degree
stakeholder survey into engagements between the CCG and its membership and
key partners.
Received integrated performance and quality and finance reports, through which
the Governing Body has been advised of the quality and safety of commissioned
services and other performance and financial issues.
Received and taken assurance that strategic risks were effectively mitigated.
Received confirmation that the CCG was compliant with all the NHS England Core
Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).
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Governing Body Members’ Attendance at Governing Body and Development meetings 2019/20

Andrew Bland
Maggie Buckell
Dr Vivienne Chai
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi
Amana Humayun +
Neil Kennett-Brown
Yvonne Leese
David Maloney
Sarah McClinton
Virginia Morley
Uzman Niazi
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo
Simon Pearce
Dr Ranil Perera +
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan
Richard Rice
Dr Sabah Salman +
Robert Shaw
Dr Vijay Sivapalan
Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Dr Greg Ussher +
Dr Iyngaran
Vanniasegarum +
Dr Jaisun
Vivekanandaraja
Steve Whiteman
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Standing Order 3.8.1 states that “Members must attend at least 75% of meetings of the Governing Body (GB)”.
Key: GB E = Extraordinary Meeting GB = Public Governing Body meetings D = Development Meeting
= Not required to attend the meeting.
Members must attend at least 75% of meetings of the Governing Body or, where this is not possible, the Chair must be satisfied as
to the reasons.
Key:
P = Public Meeting, D = Development Meeting,
AGM = Annual General Meeting.
+ = Member of the Audit Committee
Greenwich CCG uses a number of committees to provide challenge and assurance over specific areas, for example performance
and quality of services to patients, Quality, Improvement, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) delivery and financial performance through
the Integrated Governance Committee.
All committees are formed with a membership that provides a sufficient range of skills, including clinical expertise and lay
membership, to provide effective management and oversight. The committees are referenced within the NHS Greenwich CCG
Constitution. For those committees which report directly to the Governing Body, minutes are available in the Governing Body papers.
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The performance of the Governing Body includes development workshops held throughout
the year, some with external facilitation. All GP Governing Body members and the
Accountable Officer have a review halfway through the year and an appraisal at the end of
the year with the CCG Chair.
Governing Body Officers, i.e. the Chief Finance Officer and all directors have an appraisal
with the Accountable Officer or the Managing Director as appropriate.
CCG Committees are accountable to either the Governing Body or the committee that
established them. Control is exercised through the receipt of their minutes by either the
Governing Body or the relevant sponsoring committee. Reports can also be made to these
meetings by the Committee Chairs where required and the Chairs can also bring matters
onto the agendas of their sponsoring body/committee whenever they believe this is
necessary. The minutes and reports of committees that report to the Governing Body
(unless they are confidential) are published on the CCG website with the Governing Body
papers.
The terms of reference for committees are approved by their sponsoring body/committee
and cannot be exceeded without further subsequent approval.



The Nolan principles are embedded within the CCG’s governance arrangements.
The Risk Register is maintained to a good standard giving adequate details on
risks, controls and action plans in place.
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The Governing Body Assurance Framework comprehensively addresses strategic
risks to the organisation.

Audit Committee

The committee was established to take an independent and objective view of the CCG’s
financial systems, compliance with laws and compliance with best practice in its
arrangements for corporate governance. The committee has reflected on its work and had
agreed that it goes about its work in organised, accountable and informed way. In 2019/20:




Its work programme followed a plan agreed at the start of the year.
It makes it clear to CCG management and staff what is required from them in the
preparation and running of meetings.
It reports to the Governing Body via provision of minutes of the meetings once
confirmed.

The membership of the CCG’s Audit Committee is as follows:
 Chair – the independent lay member of the Governing Body who has qualifications,
expertise or experience in financial management or, in their absence, a similarly
qualified person, who could be from outside the CCG.
 Two non-executive members of the Governing Body – (being the secondary care
clinician and additional independent lay member for PPI).
 One GP member of the Governing Body.
In addition to the core membership set out above, the following will also be in attendance:
 The Accountable Officer (as required), Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer or
Director of Finance for Greenwich and Lewisham and Head of Internal Audit shall
generally attend meetings of the Audit Committee.
 A representative of the external auditors may normally be invited to attend meetings
of the Audit Committee.
 The CCG Chair may be invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee as
required.
 A representative of the local counter fraud service will be invited to attend meetings
of the Audit Committee.
Membership of the NHS Greenwich CCG Audit Committee for 2019/20 was as follows:
Amana Humayun,
Shelagh Kirkland,
Dr Ranil Perera
Dr Sabah Salman
Greg Ussher
Dr Iyngaran
Vanniasegarum

Audit Committee Chair
Audit Committee Chair
GP Commissioner
GP Commissioner
Lay Member
Secondary Care Doctor

1.4.19 to 31.1.20
1.2.20 to 31.3.20
1.4.19 to 4.9.20
4.9.19 to 31.3.20
1.4.19 to 31.3.20
1.4.19 to 31.3.20

A joint Audit Committee with NHS Lewisham CCG was held in March 2020. The
membership was as follows:
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Shelagh Kirkland Chair

Governing Body Lay Member

Dr Iynga Vanniasegaram (IV)

Governing Body Secondary
Care Doctor
Lay Member
Lay Member
Senior Clinical Director

Peter Ramrayka
Anne Hooper
Jacqueline McLeod

NHS Lewisham & Greenwich
CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness

Greenwich CCG has assessed its key risks and uncertainties throughout the year using the
Governing Body Assurance Framework. The Assurance Framework sets out the principal
risks in delivering our strategic objectives and how these risks are managed. There is an
established methodology in place to identify, monitor, control and mitigate risks throughout
the CCG as part of, and within, the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Assurance
Framework.
The key elements of the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Assurance Framework
involve the application of logical and systematic methods for:
 communicating risks and consulting throughout the organisation
 establishing the context for identifying, analysing, evaluating, treating risk associated
with CCG activity, processes and functions
 monitoring and reviewing risks
 recording and reporting results appropriately
Effective risk management enables the CCG to set priorities and improve decision making
to reach an optimal balance of risk, benefit and cost. Robust risk management assists in
the prevention of risks and reduces the CCG’s vulnerability in all its corporate objectives.
Continuous monitoring of internal systems and processes together with regular deep dive
reviews act as fraud deterrents and ensure the earliest identification of possible risks.
During 2019/20, the CCG commissioned TIAA, a local counter fraud specialist, to deliver a
counter fraud service. The TIAA follows the guidance and standards, set by NHS Protect.
The local counter fraud specialist TIAA provides the CCG with assurance through regular
meetings with the Chief Finance Officer to review the counter fraud plan and discuss cases.
The local counter fraud specialist also presented regular reports to the CCG Audit
Committee and also provides training regarding counter fraud, bribery and corruption to all
CCG Staff. Regular updates and alerts are communicated to all staff. A piece of proactive
work was undertaken by TIAA with all six Continuing Healthcare (CHC) teams in SEL to
review CHC provider resources to give assurance on the value for money delivered by the
services to patients in the community.
The CCG recognises that some risks are inherent and not all risks can or should be
avoided or eliminated, but these should be identified. The CCG does not aim to create a
risk-free environment, but rather one where risk is regularly assessed and considered as
part of everyday management and appropriately identified and controlled. Every effort is to
be made to ensure that all risks are maintained at as low a risk grading as reasonably
practicable.
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Risk Management is not just the responsibility of one person within the organisation
because it is everyone’s responsibility. To support the development of a proactive risk
management approach across the organisation, any member of staff may raise a concern
of a risk and discuss it either individually with a line manager, or within their team, and or
directorate meeting. Support and advice can be sought from the Quality and Patient Safety
Manager by either the individual and or the line manager raising the risk at any time. On
approval of the appropriate director, an identified risk will be added onto the organisation’s
system for managing risks, which is Datix. Risk reports are monitored regularly in relevant
committees, and actions are updated accordingly by identified leads.
The CCG is working toward a mature risk appetite. The CCG has no appetite for financial
risk and zero tolerance for fraud and regulatory breaches e.g. safeguarding breaches, poor
professional conduct of its staff and information governance (data protection) breaches.
Greenwich CCG may take considered risks, where the long-term benefits outweigh any
short-term losses. The CCG supports well-managed risk-taking and will ensure that the
skills, ability and knowledge are there to support innovation and maximise service
improvement. The Governing Body commits to review its risk appetite statement on an
annual basis.
As part of the embedded risk management process, the CCG also uses Datix for local
incident reporting. Any member of staff may report an internal incident online as a link for
reporting on Datix is on the main intranet page with its own unique icon. No specific login
detail is needed as the CCG encourages open reporting to identify potential risks to
minimise harm.
Another way the CCG has embedded risk management into its core business is via its
current business case template. The CCGs of Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham (BGL) use
an approved BGL business case template that gives due consideration to quality impact
assessments (QIAs), equality impact assessments (EIAs) and data protection impact
assessments (DPIAs) as part of the review. The template also requires the assessment of
public and patient engagement to ensure that relevant stakeholders have been identified
and due consideration given to the potential need for consultation and engagement. In
2019/2020, the CCG established an Equality and Diversity Working Group to review the
QIAs, EIAs and DPIAs from business cases to give assurance to the CCG that services are
procured for the best outcome for patients with as minimal risk as possible.
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Capacity to Handle Risk

A strong organisational commitment to risk management ensures that risks identified at all
levels in the organisation are appropriately managed. Risks are escalated to the Governing
Body through the governance structures in the CCG with the corporate Risk Register being
the consistent factor throughout the whole organisation.
The CCG has established and maintains via the Audit Committee and the Integrated
Governance Committee (IGC) continual reporting, monitoring and auditing of risks to
ensure that standards are being implemented and therefore, risk is being controlled to the
lowest reasonably practicable levels.
The organisation’s board assurance framework (BAF) summarises all identified risks that
may affect the organisation’s strategic objectives. The BAF is presented by the Director of
Quality & Integrated Governance at the Integrated Governance Committee (IGC), the Audit
Committee and the Governing Body meetings. These meetings are the opportunities for
the Executive and Non-Executive leadership of the organisation to debate and challenge
how risks are managed and agree mitigations for these risks.
All risks on the corporate Risk Register are aligned to the CCG’s corporate objectives with
an identified lead Director and lead Clinical GP from the Governing Body membership. The
complete corporate Risk Register is presented at alternating months at the IGC and
quarterly at the Audit Committee meetings. Risks that are scored 12 and above on the
corporate Risk Register are presented as the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF) at the bi-monthly public facing Governing Body meetings of the CCG for scrutiny
and discussion. The complete corporate risk register is also attached as an Appendix in the
GBAF reports to the Governing Body.
Subcommittees that feed into the IGC include the Joint Safeguarding Group (JSG) and the
Information Governance Steering Group (IGSG). Both these subcommittees review risks
specific to safeguarding (JSG) and information governance (IGSG). They review and
monitor actions on the risk register, and these are then updated and reported into the IGC.
Governance structures were strengthened in the CCG with a new Governing Body structure
established in September 2018. Following new membership on the Governing Body, the
CCG secured training from the Good Governance Institute (GGI) for all members of the
Governing Body. This was part of the CCG’s commitment to ensure its Governing Body
members were equipped to robustly manage governance and risk in a way appropriate to
their authority and duties. Workshops were held at timed intervals to embed the knowledge
and skills gained from working closely with the GGI.
The CCG is part of the NHS South East London [SEL] Commissioning Alliance. The CCG
is a member of the SEL Integrated Governance and Performance Committee, which meets
on a monthly basis and has an SEL Integrated Governance and Performance Board
Assurance Framework (BAF) that reviews risks identified at the SEL strategic level. Good
practice is shared and disseminated from this meeting, and the CCG utilises this as a way
of learning and improving continuously.
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Risk assessment

During 2019/20, the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy informed how the CCG assessed
and monitored its risks. Regular risk reports were presented at the Governing Body, Audit
Committee and Integrated Governance Committee meetings for scrutiny and discussion to
ensure relevant actions were implemented and monitored to minimise the risks.
The top risks for Greenwich CCG identified in 2019/20 were:






Risk of a reducing primary care GP workforce (due to retirement, natural wastage
and difficulty recruiting and retaining GPs nationally and locally) set against an
increasing population thus impacting on primary care resilience over time. Mitigation
for this included engagement with the International GP Recruitment programme
(IGPR), Community Education Provider Network (CEPN) working closely with the
Vocation Training Scheme (VTS) to link practices with vacancies with soon to be
qualified trainees and holding quarterly Protected Learning Time (PLT) events for
practice staff to support their learning needs.
Risk of the Continuing Healthcare (CHC) team not delivering its £1m QIPP target
and achieving year-end financial balance due to cost pressures. The CHC
developed a robust Improvement programme and Action Plan with close monitoring
of milestones at monthly meetings and escalation of identified risk to the Financial
Recovery Board in addition to having developed a pricing structure to negotiate new
packages of care.
Risk of care in care (nursing) homes not delivering high quality care to residents.
Mitigation of this risk included the CCG developing a single point of access for use
by GP provider and other providers of clinical services to care homes to escalate any
concerns. A multidisciplinary meeting has been embedded with close working
relationships with the local authority strengthened to provide assurance to the CCG
on the quality of care in care homes in the borough.

The CCG has worked throughout the year on managing its finances to ensure delivery of
high quality care with the best value for money. The CCG will continue to ensure it
manages its financial position as effectively as possible.

Risk assessment matrix used within the CCG
RISK SCORE MATRIX

Severity/
Conseque
nce

Likelihood

5
4
3
2

Catastrophic
Major
Moderate
Minor

1

2

3

4

Rare

Unlikely

Possible

Likely

5
4
3
2

10
8
6
4

15
12
9
6

20
16
12
8

5
Almost
certain
25
20
15
10
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1

Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Risk score
Action
15 - 25
Extreme risk – Escalate to the Governing Body
8-12
High risk – Escalate to the Greenwich Executive Group
4-6
Moderate risk – Escalate to relevant Directorate Director
1-3
Low risk – Manage within Directorate Teams
The consequence and likelihood scores must be multiplied together to give an overall risk
score.

UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG.

Discharge of statutory functions

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a
result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable
level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness.
NHS Greenwich CCG’s system of internal control is intended to manage risks and not to
eliminate risks. To this effect, we have different committees who are responsible for
overseeing the process of risk management within the CCG. Overall, responsibility for risk
management rests with the Governing Body.
Our system of internal control has been maintained through the monitoring and delivery of
its Governing Board assurance framework (GBAF) by the Governing Body. Led by the
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Director of Quality and Integrated Governance, the GBAF provides a structure and process
that enables the CCG to focus on those risks that might compromise achieving its most
important (principal) annual objectives. It maps out both the key controls that should be in
place to manage those objectives and confirms that the Governing Body has gained
sufficient assurance about the effectiveness of those controls.
The effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of internal
auditors, external auditors, Governing Body, committees, directors and clinical leads within
the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework. The Governing Body assurance framework provides the evidence that
the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks of the CCG achieving its strategic
corporate objectives have been reviewed. The framework has been actively managed and
reviewed regularly by the Executive Team, Governing Body and Audit Committee.
The risk management framework sets out the overarching approach to the management of
risk in the organisation. The Governing Body is aware of all significant risks and has
sufficient information to enable it to make decisions on the implementation of appropriate
controls and the allocation of appropriate resources.
The CCG’s aims and objectives are aligned to the Governing Body assurance framework,
which is presented at each meeting of the Governing Body in public. Organisational
objectives are embedded in the annual objectives of CCG staff at all levels within the
organisation and success in achievement of them is measured through the staff appraisal
process. All CCG policies follow a standard operating procedure and adhere to the CCG’s
policy on policies. The policy on policies outlines the appropriate governance route for
approval of policies.
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Deterrents to risk arising: counter fraud

The CCG commissions TIAA, a local counter fraud specialist, to deliver a counter fraud
service. The TIAA follows the guidance and standards, set by NHS Protect. The local
counter fraud specialist TIAA provides the CCG with assurance through regular meetings
with the Chief Finance Officer to review the counter fraud plan and discuss cases. The local
counter fraud specialist also presented regular reports to the CCG Audit Committee and
also provides training regarding counter fraud, bribery and corruption to all CCG Staff.
Counter fraud policies and services are provided by internal audit. Regular updates and
alerts are communicated to all staff.
The following arrangements are in place:








Proactive and reactive measures are taken by the counter fraud services to deter
and identify fraud as well as to encourage staff to report fraud.
The CCG’s standing orders, standing financial instructions and the scheme of
reservation and delegation.
Conflicts of interests (CoI) are declared at all Governing Body and Committee
meetings and subcommittee meetings. The CCG is compliant with CoI guidance and
the Governing Body and Senior Management Team participate in development
sessions on CoI.
Management notifies the local counter fraud service and/or Chief Finance Officer of
any concerns of fraud. At the conclusion of an investigation, the local counter fraud
service forwards recommendations to the Chief Finance Officer, which are also
reported to the Audit Committee, internal audit and the local counter fraud service
hold liaison meetings during the year in order to discuss high risk areas.
Where management identifies any risk of fraud they are able to introduce appropriate
controls to counter the risk.

Risks relating to fraud and bribery will be added to the risk register when they occur and
then reviewed by the Governing Body as appropriate.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The CCG’s conflicts of interest policy and procedures were independently audited in
2019/20 and the CCG has an overall rating of “reasonable assurance”, the second highest
rating.
To make staff across CCGs more aware of their duty to make true declarations, NHS
England has developed online training that was launched in January 2018 and was
mandatory for all decision-makers in the CCG to complete by the end of January 2020.
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Data quality
In line with the “need to know” principles set out in the Caldicott 2 Information Governance
Review Report, the CCG ensures that information presented to the Governing Body and
other governance forums does not identify individuals and is fully anonymised.
Senior management diligently reviews information to be set out in governance and
decision-making prior to consideration and presentation to the relevant governance forum.
The quality of information that the Governing Body and other governance forums receive to
consider and direct decision making is also assured through service level specification
arrangements with the North East London Commissioning Support Unit (NEL CSU) and the
use of contractual arrangements with commissioned providers.
Information governance
The NHS information governance framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is supported by a
Date Security and Protection (DSP) toolkit and the annual submission process provides
assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG
demonstrated a high level of compliance by completion of the DSP Toolkit which was
published in March 2019.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of
their information governance roles and responsibilities.
The Director of Quality and Integrated Governance was the Caldicott Guardian and the
executive lead on the Governing Body for information governance until 28 October 2019.
The Acting Director for Quality (Bexley & Greenwich CCGs) became the Caldicott Guardian
from 29 October 2019. The Director of ICT & Information Governance (Bexley CCG)
became the Governing Body executive lead for Information Governance. The Managing
Director was the SIRO up to 1 April 2019 and the Director of Primary Care, ICT &
Information Governance became the SIRO following 1 April 2019.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
Business critical models
NHS England recognises the importance of quality assurance across the full range of its
analytical work. In partnership with analysts in the Department of Health we have
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developed an approach that is fully consistent with the recommendations in Sir Nicholas
Macpherson's review of quality assurance of government models. The framework includes
a programme of mandatory workshops for NHS England analysts, which highlights the
importance of quality assurance across the full range of analytical work.
The Macpherson Report on the review of quality assurance (QA) of Government Analytical
Models set out the components of best practice in QA making eight key recommendations.
We recognise the importance of this and have been working with partners to ensure
appropriate quality assurance processes are in place across its analytical work.
For 2019/20, Greenwich CCG has continued to work with other CCGs and NHS providers
in south east London, as part of the Our Healthier South East London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP), (South East London Integrated Care System (ICS) since
June 2019) to develop and maintain the strategic business and financial modelling. The
modelling is led through the STP Director of Financial Strategy. The output of the financial
modelling is reviewed by a varied number of stakeholders from different disciplines, both
internal and external, and underpins the financial opportunities of the impacts of service
changes.
Locally, Greenwich CCG has developed a number of business and financial models which
underpin areas such as local financial planning, QIPP delivery and service transformation.
The identified senior responsible officer is the Chief Financial Officer, who ensures that
there are effective processes underpinning the modelling, including appropriate guidance,
documentation and training, as well as sharing best practice. This includes ensuring that
appropriate assurance processes are in place to govern the robustness of any modelling.
Third party assurances
The Governing Body receives the non-acute and quality report, which is presented by the
Director of Quality and Integrated Governance. These meetings offer opportunities for the
executive and non-executive leadership of the organisation to debate and challenge how
issues are managed and agree actions/mitigations for these issues.

Control issues

No significant control issues have been identified

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

In year monitoring of performance against our plans, in terms of quality, finance and other
performance standards (e.g. NHS constitutional standards) has been carried out by our
Integrated Governance Committee, Financial Investment Committees and QIPP Planning
Delivery and Monitoring Group. This includes assuring that projects and programmes are
delivering economic, effective and high quality services.

Under the CCG improvement and assessment framework indicators leadership ratings are
reviewed on a quarterly basis, the latest available results (to quarter 3 2019/20) show that
the CCG is rated good for the quality of leadership. Year end results for the Improvement
and Assessment Framework are published by NHS England.
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Delegation of functions
 Externally: South East London Integrated Governance and Performance Committee
(SEL IGPC) – The committee monitored the delivery of acute provider organisations,
statutory and delivery responsibilities to ensure actions/mitigations are followed through:
to discuss and agree appropriate remediation: and to proactively identify and address
declining performance indicators, ensuring deterioration is managed rapidly.
o The committee is established to enable the shared oversight of the delivery of a
set of specified objectives that relate both to SEL CCGs and to commissioning
providers within the STP area.
o Committee papers were made available a week in advance to enable CCG
representatives to discuss issues with colleagues ahead of committee meetings.
o The committee reported on its activities to CCG Governing Bodies via a monthly
report which also included their meeting minutes.


Internally:
The Governing Body delegates certain of its functions to the following committees:
 Audit Committee
 Financial Investment Committee (FIC)
 Clinical Commissioning Committee (CCC)
 The Integrated Governance Committee (IGC)
 The Remuneration Committee
The powers delegated to the above committees are set out in their Terms of Reference
(ToR), which are approved by the Governing Body. The minutes of these committees
are reported to the Governing Body meetings.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2019/20
Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group
Head of internal audit opinion 2019/20
8 June 2020
This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP
will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party.

1.1 The head of internal audit opinion

As at 8 June 2020, our head of internal audit opinion for Greenwich Clinical Commissioning
Group is as follows:
Head of internal audit opinion 2019/20

Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in preparing this
report and opinion.

1.2 Scope and limitations of our work

The formation of our opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with
management and approved by the audit committee. Our opinion is subject to inherent
limitations, as detailed below:
 The opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances
relating to the organisation;


The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the assurance
framework is one component that the board considers in making its annual
governance statement (AGS);



The opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work undertaken, the
scope of which has been agreed with management;
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The opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to the
area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;



Where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;



Due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to attention; and



It remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be a
substitute for management’s responsibilities around the design and effective
operation of these systems.



Our internal audit work for 2019/20 was completed prior to the advent of the
substantial operational disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. As such our
audit work and annual opinion does not reflect the situation which has arisen in the
final weeks of the year. We do, however, recognise that there has been a significant
impact on both the operations of the organisation and its risk profile.

1.3 Factors and findings which have informed our opinion

Factors and findings which have informed our opinion:
Whilst opportunities for some enhancements to the control environment were identified, we
issued the following positive assurance opinions in 2019/20:
 Local Authority Integration and Better Care Fund (Reasonable)
 QIPP and Financial Management (Reasonable)
 Board Assurance Framework and Risk Management (Reasonable)
 Conflicts of Interest (Reasonable)
 Primary Care Commissioning (Reasonable)
 Commissioning and Contracts Management (Reasonable)
 Data Security Protection (DSP) Toolkit (Advisory)
We have not issued any ‘no assurance’ or ‘partial’ opinions in 2019/20. In the audits shown
as providing Reasonable assurance we have identified some areas where enhancements
are required and in each of these cases management actions have been agreed, the
implementation of which will improve the control environment.
In addition, we have provided support throughout the SEL merger process, through
attendance at the Project Board and Finance Merger Oversight Group. No significant issues
have been identified.

Service Auditor reports
We reviewed the Service Auditor Report for NEL Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) for the
year ended 31 March 2020. Exceptions were noted on the testing in relation to six of the
controls for which the CCG relies upon the CSU. None of these were sufficiently significant
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to impact our Opinion, although we would advocate Management following up with the CSU
to confirm the amendments to process enacted to decrease the likelihood of control failings
recurring.
We reviewed the Service Auditor Report from the internal auditors of NHS Shared Business
Services who, provide services to the CCG via a contract held with NHS England. No
exceptions were noted and there is therefore no negative impact on the control
environment.
We reviewed the Service Auditor Report from the internal auditors for NHS Digital in regard
to GP Payments. Testing for one of the controls identified an exception but there was no
significant impact for the CCG on its overall control environment.
We reviewed the Service Auditor Report from the internal auditors for NHS Business
Services Authority in regard to prescription payments. Exceptions were identified on testing
for three of the controls although there was no significant impact for the CCG on its overall
control environment.
We have not yet received the Service Auditor Report in relation to Capita and therefore
cannot place any reliance on the controls operated on behalf of the CCG.

1.4 Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance
statement

Based on the work we have undertaken on the CCG’s system of internal control we do not
consider there to be any issues that the CCG should include within its Annual Governance
Statement. The CCG should consider whether any other issues raised based upon external
reviews or other known control issues should be incorporated within the Statement.

Appendix A: Annual opinions
The following shows the full range of opinions available to us within our internal audit
methodology to provide you with context regarding your annual internal audit opinion.
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Annual opinions

Factors influencing
our opinion
The factors which are
considered when influencing
our opinion are:


inherent risk in the
area being audited;



Limitations in the
individual audit
assignments



The adequacy and
effectiveness of the
risk management
and / or governance
control framework



The impact of
weakness identified



The level of risk
exposure



The response to
management actions
raised and
timeliness of actions
taken

For further information contact
Clive Makombera, Head of Internal Audit
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP
Email address:
Clive.Makombera@rsmuk.com
Contact telephone number:
+44 (0)7980 773852
Sarah Howe, Manager
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP
Email address:
Sarah.Howe@rsmuk.com
Contact telephone number:
+44 (0)7528 970055
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit
letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body,
the Audit Committee, the Quality Committee, the Integrated Governance Committee,
Internal Audit and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of
the system is in place.
The Governing Body and Audit Committee have provided regular feedback on the
completeness and effectiveness of our systems of internal control via comments and
feedback on the completeness of the Board Assurance Framework. Control and assurance
gaps were sometimes identified, resulting in existing controls and assurances being further
reviewed and strengthened. The Audit Committee also carried out reviews in to the risks
associated with the CCG priorities.
The report into the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) process from our Internal Auditors
stated that there is reasonable assurance that the controls in place to manage the risks are
suitably designed and consistently applied. Issues were identified that need to be
addressed in order to ensure that the control framework is effective in managing the
identified risks.
The risk management arrangements at Greenwich CCG were reviewed and an overall
assessment of reasonable assurance was provided.
Conclusion
In conclusion I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Remuneration and staff report
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises of five members and has met once during
the past year. A full list of the NHS Greenwich CCG members and their roles is
below.
Name

Role

Amana Humayun
Maggie Bucknell

Lay Member/ Vice Chair (Audit and Conflict of
Interests (COI))
Governing Body Registered Nurse

Greg Ussher
Dr Iyngarun Vanniasegarum

Lay member (Patient and Public Involvement (PPI)
Secondary Care Doctor

Richard Rice

Lay member (Lead for Primary Care Commissioning)

The North East London Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU) provides HR advice
and support to the CCG in accordance with an agreed Service Level Agreement.
This includes advice and support to the Remuneration Committee including agreeing
agendas with the Chair of the Committee and preparing and presenting papers at
Committee meetings. The advice given to the Remuneration Committee is based on
national guidance and benchmarking information. The HR Business Partner is
appointed by the NEL CSU.
Remuneration policy
The committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent
advice regarding pay structures. Business expenses are reimbursed in accordance
with the CCG policy based on national guidelines. There are no benefits in kind. This
policy remains the same for 2020/21.
Senior managers’ performance related pay
The CCG does not have a policy of performance related pay for senior managers.
Senior managers’ service contracts
Senior managers’ contracts are permanent with a notice period of six months. There
have been no termination payments in year or any awards to current or former
members of the Governing Body, although the CCG made a settlement agreement
with one person.
Senior managers’ salaries and allowances 2019/20 (subject to audit)
All members of the Governing Body are deemed to be individuals with significant
financial responsibility during the financial year and are therefore regarded as ‘senior
managers’. No other CCG senior managers have significant financial responsibility.
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Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)

Name

Title

Salary &
Fees

bands of
£5,000

Taxable
Benefits
Disclosed in
£ to the
nearest
£100

Financial Year 2019-20
Annual
Long-term
Performanc Performanc
e
e
All Pension
Related
Related
Related
Bonuses
Bonuses
Benefits

Total

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£2,500

bands of
£5,000

Andrew Bland

Chief Officer

25-30

100

0

0

2.5-5

25-30

Usman Niazi

SEL Chief Financial Officer from 11 February 2019

25-30

200

0

0

5-7.5

30-35

Neil Kennett-Brown

Managing Director

65-70

0

0

0

35-37.5

100-105

David Maloney

Director of Finance

40-45

0

0

0

27.5-30

70-75

Robert Shaw

Director of Commissioning

60-65

0

0

0

67.5-70

125-130

30-35

0

0

0

22.5-25

60-65

70-75

0

0

0

27.5-30

95-100

15-20

0

0

0

0-2.5

15-20

65-70

0

0

0

15-17.5

80-85

50-55

0

0

0

5-7.5

60-65

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

25-30

0

0

0

0

25-30

35-40

0

0

0

0

35-40

35-40

0

0

0

0

35-40

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

25-30

0

0

0

0

25-30

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

55-60

0

0

0

77.5-80

135-140

Director of Commissioning Development
Director of Quality and Deputy Managing Director
(until 8/11/19)
Yvonne Leese
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body - From 1 May 2014 (until 4/9/2019)
Dr Ranil Perera
Chair and GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG
Dr Krishna Subbarayan Governing Body from 1st Sept 2019
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 01 Aug 2015
Dr Sabah Salman
Dr Iyngaran
Secondary Care doctor on the NHS Greewich CCG
Vanniasgarum
Governing Body from 08 Jan 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Dr Adebisi Olunloyo
Body - From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Dr Janakan Ratnarajan Body - From 1 September 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Dr Vivienne Chai
Body - From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Dr Vijay Sivapalan
Body - From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Dr Anuj Chaturvedi
Body - From 20 July 2018
Registered Nurse on the NHS Greewich CCG
Governing Body from 08 Jan 2015
Maggie Buckell
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 01 April 2013
Dr Greg Ussher
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 20 March 2017
Mr Richard Rice
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 17 Jan 2018
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja
Virginia Morley
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*Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer for NHS Southwark CCG since
April 2013. He took over the Accountable Officer role for NHS Greenwich CCG in
September 2017 and NHS Bexley CCG in February 2018 and has held this role for
Bromley and Lewisham CCGs since 1 April 2018. In addition, Andrew became
Accountable Officer for Lambeth CCG (and therefore all CCGs in South East
London) from 1 October 2019. The total salary for the 2019/20 financial year for
these NHS roles was £140,000 to 145,000, expenses £200, and pension related
benefits £nil. Corresponding entries are shown in the annual accounts for each of the
individual CCGs.
*Usman Niazi commenced the role as the South East London Chief Financial Officer
(covering Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lewisham and Southwark CCGs) in
February 2019. In addition, Usman was appointed as Chief Financial Officer for
Lambeth CCG from 1 November 2019. The total salary for the 2019/20 financial year
for these NHS roles was £135-140k, expenses £1,300, and pension related benefits
£35-37.5k. Corresponding entries are shown in the annual accounts for each of the
individual CCGs
*David Maloney has been Director of Finance for Greenwich, Bexley and Lewisham
CCG’s all period. His total salary for the year for these NHS roles was £125,000 to
130,000 and pension related benefits £85,000 to £87,500. Corresponding entries are
shown in the other CCG accounts.
*Neil Kennett-Brown has been the Managing Director for Greenwich and Bexley
CCG’s all period. His total salary for these NHSE roles was £135,000 to £140,000,
and pension related benefits £70,000 to £72,500. Corresponding entries are shown
in the other CCG accounts.
*Robert Shaw has been the Director of Commissioning for Greenwich and Bexley
CCG’s all period. His total salary for these NHSE roles was £120,000 to £125,000,
and pension related benefits £135,000 to £137,500. Corresponding entries are
shown in the other CCG accounts.
*Virginia Morley has been the Director of Commissioning Development for
Greenwich and Bexley CCG’s all period. Her total salary for these NHSE roles was
£60,000 to £65,000, and pension related benefits £67,500 to £70,000.
Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
Only the Greenwich CCG proportion of these six officers’ salaries and associated
costs are included in the CCG’s Remuneration Report table presented above
No Governing Body member, or any other manager, received any performance
related pay or bonus, or taxable benefit.
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Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)
Financial Year 2018-19

Name

Title

Salary &
Fees
bands of
£5,000

Taxable
Benefits
Disclosed in
£ to the
nearest £100

Annual
Long-term
Performance Performance All Pension
Related
Related
Related
Bonuses
Bonuses
Benefits
bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0-5

25-30

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0

2.5-5

120-125

0

2.5-5

70-75

0

5-7.5

105-110

Chief Officer

Usman Niazi

SEL Chief Financial Officer from 11 February 2019

Joanne Murfitt

Chief Officer from 1 November 2016 to 10 Sep 2017

Neil Kennett-Brown

Managing Director from 25 September 2017

115-120

0

0

David Maloney

Chief Financial Officer from 20 February 2017

60-65

0

0

Robert Shaw

Director of Commissioning from 1st May 2018

100-105

0

0

Liz James

Interim Director of Commissioning Until 30 Sep 2017

Vanessa Fowler

Director of Commissioning from 1st October to 15th
December 2017

Director of Quality and Deputy Managing Director
Director of commissioning from 27 Nov 2017 until 1 May
2018
Virginia Morley
Chair and GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG
Governing Body until 31 Aug 2018
Dr Ellen Wright
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Hany Wahba
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
until 20 July 2018
Dr Nayan Patel
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 August 2015 until 20 July 2018
Dr Sylvia Nyame
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body From 1 May 2014
Dr Ranil Perera
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Krishna Subbarayan
From 1 July 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 Aug 2015
Dr Sabah Salman
Secondary Care doctor on the NHS Greewich CCG
Dr Iyngaran Vanniasgarum Governing Body from 08 Jan 2014
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Adebisi Olunloyo
From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Janakan Ratnarajan
From 1 September 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Vivienne Chai
From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Vijay Sivapalan
From 20 July 2018
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body Dr Anuj Chaturvedi
From 20 July 2018
Registered Nurse on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing
Body from 08 Jan 2015
Maggie Buckell
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013
Dr Greg Ussher
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 01 April 2013 until 11 June 2017
Mr Jim Wintour
Lay Member on the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
from 20 March 2017
Mr Richard Rice
GP Member of the NHS Greewich CCG Governing Body
Dr Jaisun Vivekanandaraja from 17 Jan 2018
Vice Chair and Lay Member for Audit and Remuneration
and Conflicts of Interest Guardian from 12 June 2017
Amana Humayun

bands of
£2,500

25-30

Andrew Bland

Yvonne Leese

bands of
£5,000

Total

Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
105-110

0

0

0

50-52.5

160-165

65-70

0

0

0

12.5-15

75-80

20-25

0

0

0

0

30-35

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0-2.5

10-15

40-45

0

0

0

67.5-70

110-115

55-60

0

0

0

7.5-10

65-70

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Not Applicable
10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

20-25

0

0

0

135-137.5

155-160

0

0

0

0

0

0

Councillor David Gardner Local Authority Member

0

0

0

0

0

0

Director of Public Health

0

0

0

0

0

0

Steve Whiteman
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Pension Benefits 2019-20
Real Increase in
Real Increase in
pension at age 60 pension lump sum at
(bands of
age 60 (bands of
Name

Real Increase
in Cash
(Proportion of
time in Post)

Total

Cash
Cash
Lump Sum at age 60
equivalent
equivalent
related to accrued
Transfer Value
Transfer
accrued
pension at 31 March
pension at age 2020 (bands of £5,000) at 31 March Value at 31
Equivalent
2020
March 2019 Transfer Value
60 at 31 March
2020 (bands of

Employer
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£2,500)

£2,500)

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

0

0--2.5

35-40

65-70

484

444

11

Nil

2.5-5

0

20-25

Nil

234

198

10

Nil

2.5-5

5-7.5

45-50

105-110

905

786

62

Nil

0-2.5

2.5-5

40-45

125-130

1,042

954

29

Nil

2.5-5

2.5-5

30-35

60-65

559

471

57

Nil

0-2.5

0

15-20

45-50

259

246

4

Nil

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

5-10

80

64

5

Nil

0-2.5

5-7.5

5-10

15-20

164

138

14

Nil

0

0-2.5

10-15

25-30

158

146

1

Nil

5-7.5

12.5-15

25-30

55-60

472

409

36

Nil

2.5-5

7.5-10

15-20

40-45

251

188

53

Nil

£5,000)
Andrew Bland
Chief Officer
Usman Niazi
SEL Chief Financial Officer
David Maloney
Director of Finance
Yvonne Leese
Director of Quality and
Deputy Managing Director
Neil Kennett-Brown
Managing Director
Ranil Perera
GP Member of the NHS
Greewich CCG Governing
Body
Krishna Subbarayan
Chair and GP Member of the
NHS Greewich CCG
Governing Body
Virginia Morley
Director of Commissioning
Development
Sabah Salman
GP Member of the NHS
Greewich CCG Governing
Body
Robert Shaw
Director of Commissioning
Jaisun Vivekanandaraja
GP Member of the NHS
Greewich CCG Governing
Body

*Andrew Bland held the position of Accountable Officer for Southwark, Bexley,
Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich CCG throughout the period. As the pension
disclosure represent an actuarial valuation of his future benefits these have not been
allocated across the CCG but are included in full in each set of financial statements
where he has received remuneration.
*Usman Niazi held the position of Chief Finance Officer for Southwark, Bexley,
Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich CCG throughout the period. As the pension
disclosure represent an actuarial valuation of his future benefits these have not been
allocated across the CCG but are included in full in each set of financial statements
where he has received remuneration.
The pension benefit figure is based on the HMRC method for calculating the
increase in the annual pension entitlement for deferred benefit schemes. It is not the
same as the cost to the CCG of its contribution in respect of the individual concerned
(the employer’s contribution).
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The benefits and related CETVs do not allow for a potential future adjustment
relating to the McLoud judgement
Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement).
Due to the introduction of the GMP indexation, also know as GMP equalisation, the
CETV values at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 may have been calculated using
different methodologies; this may have impacted on the real increase in CETV figure
being seen within the report.
Pay multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS
Greenwich CCG in financial year 2019/20 was £107,500 (in 2018/19 it was
£122,500, the increase reflects the changes in the Senior Management structure
across South East London CCGs). This is 2.19 times higher than the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £49,051 (2017/18 was 2.74 and £44,021).
In 2018/19 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
member of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £20,814 to £107,500
(annualised estimated earnings of highest paid director).
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In calculating the relationship between the highest paid person in the organisation
and the median remuneration, the CCG has to remove VAT and an estimate of
agency premiums from the payments for all contractors and treat all appointments
and employments as if they were full-time and for twelve months.
Total remuneration includes salary and pensionable benefits. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
Expenditure on consultancy
A total of £0.07 million was spent on consultancy during 2019/20. Primarily this
relates to services commissioned under the Transforming Care Partnership initiative.
Off payroll engagements
Off-payroll engagements existing at 31 March 2020 for more than £245 per day and
have lasted longer than six months are as follows:
The number that have existed:
For less than one year at 31/3/20

1

For between one and two years

0

For between two and three years

0

For between three and four years

0

For four years or more

0

Total number of existing engagements at 31/3/20

1

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been
subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance
has been sought.
For all off-payroll engagements in 2019/20 for more than £245 per day and more
than six months:
Number
Total number of new engagements, or those that reached six months
in duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 20120

2

Of which
Number assessed as caught by IR35

0

Number assessed as NOT caught by IR35

2
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Number engaged directly (via PSC contract to department) and are
on departmental payment

0

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/ assurance
purposes during the year

0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 following the
consistency review

0

Off-payroll engagement of Governing Body members and senior officials with
“significant financial responsibility” between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020:
Number of off-payroll engagements of Governing Body members,
and senior officials with “significant financial responsibility” during the
financial year

0

Number of individuals who have been deemed Governing Body
members, and senior officials with “significant financial responsibility”,
during the financial year (payroll and off-payroll)

7

I hereby sign off the Remuneration Report element of the NHS Greenwich CCG
Annual Report 2019/20.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
18 June 2020
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Our staff

Employee benefits and staff numbers
Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,628
429
699
6
4,762

Employee benefits

2019-20

Other
£'000
549
0
0
0
549

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,429
427
360
5
4,221

Total
£'000
4,178
429
699
6
5,311

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

794
0
0
0
794

4,223
427
360
5
5,015

Staff Composition - 31 March
2020
Number of Staff
Permanent

Other
Substantive

GB Member /
Office Holder

Grand Total

55

10

16

81
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Communicating and engaging
There are a number of ways in which we communicate and engage with staff and member
practices including:


Weekly staff briefs which are shared on the intranet and where staff are encouraged to
pose questions, celebrate success and share ideas.



Intranet.



Monthly lunch and learn sessions offering a chance to network and share knowledge
across the organisation.



Staff away days and events.



Team and directorate meetings.



Regular 1:1s.



Annual staff survey with collective all-staff action planning.



Annual awards for staff and member practices built around our organisational values.

Training, development and support
We offer a comprehensive training package online via e-learning with some opportunities for face
to face training. All staff are required to complete their statutory and mandatory training, and
compliance is monitored through the workforce system. Staff have regular 1:1s and appraisals and
are offered training and support through personal development plans. Objective-setting takes
place in quarter 1 of the year and is linked to the corporate objectives to ensure that each member
of staff understands the role they and their team plays in achieving the CCG’s objectives.
The CCG has a number of staff forums such as Staff Brief and Staff Health and Wellbeing Group
where workforce issues are discussed and updates provided. Staff are welcome to join one of the
various recognised trade unions. The majority of CCG staff are employed under Agenda for
Change terms and conditions and pay and pay progression is governed under this system.
The CCG provides an Occupational Health service and Employee Assistance Programme which
assist in providing advice and support to managers and staff.
Employee consultation
Organisational change is managed in accordance with the principles and procedures contained
within the CCG's organisational change policy. The CCG also informally communicates and
consults with employees via regular staff briefings. Given the extensive consultation associated
with the merger of the organisations across south east London, enhanced HR and management
support has been a key focus this year, with additional staff meetings, one to ones and training
and support for staff who are experiencing change.
Policy on disabled employees
Disabled employees are protected under the protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010,
one of which is disability. The CCG ensures that requirements and reasonable adjustments
necessary for employees with disabilities are managed during their employment and that people
with disabilities are not discriminated against on the ground of their disability at any stage of the
recruitment process or in their employment with the CCG.
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The CCG's sickness absence policy confirms that where an employee becomes disabled as a
result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable adjustments, as required, and in
accordance with the Equality Act to enable the employee to return to work. The types of
adjustments may include adjustments to work base, working hours, redeploying the employee to
another suitable position and providing any necessary equipment to assist the employee to
perform their role.
Equalities for staff
The CCG promotes a working environment in which all parties and procedures relating to
recruitment, selection, training, promotion and employment are free from unfair discrimination,
ensuring that no employee or prospective employee is discriminated against, whether directly or
indirectly on the grounds of age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race
including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality; religion or belief; sex (gender); sexual
orientation; marriage and civil partnership; trade union membership; responsibility for dependents
or any other condition or requirement which cannot be shown to be justifiable.
The CCG has a number of HR policies providing clarity and guidance to staff and managers over a
wide range of workforce related matters. The CCG is committed to the elimination of discrimination
and these policies aim to ensure those with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act
2010 are not disadvantaged in either recruitment or their employment. The CCG enacts this
commitment through its policies such as the recruitment policy, where the CCG commits to
ensuring that people with disabilities are not discriminated against on the grounds of their disability
at any stage of the recruitment process. Where any disabled applicant meets the essential criteria,
within the person specification, then they will be guaranteed an interview with any reasonable
adjustments provided for. The sickness management policy confirms that where an employee
becomes disabled as a result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable
adjustments, as required, and in accordance with the Equality Act 2010, to enable the employee to
return to work. Adjustments may include work base and working hours changes, redeploying the
employee to another suitable position and providing necessary equipment and training to assist
the employee to perform their role.
Expenditure on consultancy during 2019/20
A total of £0.07 million was spent on consultancy during 2019/20. Primarily this relates to services
commissioned under the Transforming Care Partnership initiative
Trade union facility time
As a CCG with a full-time equivalent employee number of more than 49 people, we are obliged to
report on paid time off for union representatives to carry out trade union activities. In 2019/20 one
member of staff was a relevant union official, with 0.10 whole time equivalent (WTE) of their paid
time allocated for union activities. This accounts for 0.088 % of the CCG total pay bill.
Staff absence data
NHS bodies are also required to report on staff sickness. For 2019-20 this information can be
found on the below link;
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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Staff composition
Pay group - substantive Only
Pay Group

Employee
Headcount

Band 4

3

Band 5

6

Band 6

6

Band 7

14

Band 8A

12

Band 8B

6

Band 8C

9

Band 8D

4

Band 9

3

VSM

2

Grand Total

65

Pay Group by Gender Substantive Only
Employee Gender Description

Pay Group

Percentage of
Grand Total

Employee
Headcount

Female

Band 4

3.08%

2

Band 5

7.69%

5

Band 6

6.15%

4

Band 7

15.38%

10

Band 8A

13.85%

9

Band 8B

6.15%

4

Band 8C

10.77%

7

Band 8D

4.62%

3
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Band 9

1.54%

1

69.23%

45

Band 4

1.54%

1

Band 5

1.54%

1

Band 6

3.08%

2

Band 7

6.15%

4

Band 8A

4.62%

3

Band 8B

3.08%

2

Band 8C

3.08%

2

Band 8D

1.54%

1

Band 9

3.08%

2

VSM

3.08%

2

30.77%

20

Female Total
Male

Male Total
Grand Total

65

Disability

Headcount %

FTE

No

59

90.8%

55.39

Not Declared

3

4.6%

3.00

Prefer Not To Answer

1

1.5%

1.00

Yes

2

3.1%

2.00

Grand Total

65

100%

61.39

Religious Belief

Headcount %

FTE

Atheism

6

9.2%

5.80

Buddhism

3

4.6%

2.40

Christianity

35

53.8%

34.00

Hinduism

4

6.2%

3.60

Islam

3

4.6%

3.00

Not Disclosed

11

16.9%

9.99
111

Other

3

4.6%

2.60

Grand Total

65

100%

61.39

Gender

Headcount %

FTE

Female

45

69.2%

41.39

Male

20

30.8%

20.00

Grand Total

65

100%

61.39

Sexual Orientation

Headcount %

FTE

Bisexual

1

1.5%

1.00

Gay or Lesbian

1

1.5%

1.00

Heterosexual or Straight

56

86.2%

53.00

Not Disclosed

7

10.8%

6.39

Grand Total

65

100%

61.39

Age Band

Headcount %

FTE

21-25

2

3.1%

2.00

26-30

4

6.2%

3.80

31-35

4

6.2%

4.00

36-40

9

13.8%

8.40

41-45

9

13.8%

9.00

46-50

9

13.8%

8.49

51-55

7

10.8%

6.80

56-60

13

20.0%

11.49

61-65

8

12.3%

7.40

Grand Total

65

100%

61.39

Ethnicity

Headcount %

FTE
112

White

32

49.2%

30.80

BME

30

46.2%

28.20

Not Stated

3

4.6%

2.39

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Greenwich CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the financial statements of this report at section 3 Annual
Accounts. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report.
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Section 3 Annual Accounts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS SOUTH EAST LONDON CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP IN RESPECT OF NHS GREENWICH CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group
(“the CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers Equity and Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the accounting
policies in note 1.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the
NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to
CCGs in England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2019/20.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of matter - going concern basis of preparation
We draw attention to the disclosure made in note 1.1 to the financial statements which explains
that whilst the CCG is not a going concern due to its dissolution on 31 March 2020 and the
transfer of its activities to NHS South East London CCG, the financial statements of the CCG
have been prepared on the going concern basis because its services will continue to be
provided by the newly established public sector body. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.
Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report
together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we
have not identified material misstatements in the other information. In our opinion the other
information included in the Annual Report for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements.
Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with
guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.
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Remuneration and Staff Report
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2019/20.
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 73, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the CCGs ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the
CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our
opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if the CCG has not made
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 72, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically. We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) in December
2019 and updated in April 2020 as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable
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outcomes for taxpayers and local people. We planned our work in accordance with the Code
of Audit Practice and related guidance. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work
as we considered necessary.

Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if:
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of
the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of
action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
THE PURPOSE OF
RESPONSIBILITIES

OUR

AUDIT

WORK

AND

TO

WHOM

WE

OWE

OUR

This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS South East London
CCG in respect of NHS Greenwich CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the
Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Greenwich CCG for the
year ended 31 March 2020 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Richard Hewes
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
London
23 June 2020
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NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020
Note

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(6,618)
(19)
(6,637)

(6,701)
(20)
(6,721)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5

5,311
456,784
114
563
462,772

5,015
432,729
302
502
438,548

456,135

431,827

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020
Note

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2019-20

2018-19

£'000

£'000

8

919
919

1,033
1,033

9
10

6,238
229
6,467

9,157
16
9,173

7,386

10,206

(33,402)
(33,402)

(40,054)
(40,054)

Non-Current Assets less Net Liabilities

(26,016)

(29,848)

Assets less Liabilities

(26,016)

(29,848)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(26,016)
(26,016)

(29,848)
(29,848)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

11

The notes on pages 6 to 26 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 2 to 5 were approved by the Governing Body on 18 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Chief Accountable Officer
Andrew Bland

Chief Finance Officer
Uzman Niazi

120

31 March 2020

General
fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019

Total
reserves
£'000

(29,848)
(29,848)

(29,848)
(29,848)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(456,135)

(456,135)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(456,135)
459,967
(26,016)

(456,135)
459,967
(26,016)

General
fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019

Total
reserves
£'000

(28,900)
(28,900)

(28,900)
(28,900)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Net operating costs for the financial year

(14)
(431,827)

(14)
(431,827)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(431,841)
430,893
(29,848)

(431,841)
430,893
(29,848)

The notes on pages 6 to 26 form part of this statement.
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NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

Note
5
9
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 6 to 26 form part of this statement.
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2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

(456,135)
114
0
2,919
(6,652)
(459,754)

(431,827)
302
(14)
5,962
(5,346)
(430,923)

0
0

(95)
(95)

(459,754)

(431,018)

459,967
459,967

430,893
430,893

213

(125)

16
229

141
16

NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Notes to the financial statements
1

1.1

1.2
1.3

1.4

Accounting Policies
NHS England/ has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The
accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where
the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by
the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.
Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis .
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
NHS Greenwich CCG (the CCG) was dissolved on 31 March 2020. Whilst the CCG as an entity ceased to exist on that date and was not a going
concern at 31 March 2020, the activities undertaken by the CCG have continued within the formation of NHS South East London CCG. In accordance
with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, the continuation of the provision of services within the public sector means
that the accounts of the CCG should be prepared on a going concern basis
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care
Gorup are outside the scope of IFRS 3 BusinessCombinations. Where fundtions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health
and Social Care GAM requires the application of apsorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give
rise to income and expenditure entries.
Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with the Royal Borough of Greenwich [in accordance with section 75
of the NHS Act 2006]. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled in accordance with the agreement, adetails to which is provided in note 14.

1.5

1.6

1.7

The pool is hosted by the Clinical Commissioning Group. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement
Charitable Funds
As in previous financial years, the CCG Governing Body does not consider the activity of the NHS Greenwich Charitable Funds to be material to NHS
Greenwich CCG. The Charitable Funds represent approximately 1.6% (0.9% in 2018/19) of the revenue outturn position of NHS Greenwich CCG.
Accordingly the Governing Body and the Trustees have agreed not to consolidate the NHS Greenwich Charitable Funds within the Annual Accounts of
the CCG.
Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical
commissioning group.
Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding
is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
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1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

1.9

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.

1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.10.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.11

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

1.12
1.12.1

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to
the revaluation reserve.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.
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1.13

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.14

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.15

1.16
1.17

1.17.1

1.17.2
1.17.3
1.18

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.
Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Financial Liabilities

1.19

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

,1.20

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21
1.21.1

1.21.1

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed. The CCG have made no judgements that it would deem material in 2019/20.
Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
- The Governing Body does not consider the activity of the NHS Greenwich Charitable Funds to be material to NHS Greenwich CCG. The charitable
funds represent approximately 1.6% (0.9% in 18/19) of the revenues outturn position of NHS Greenwich CCG. Accordingly the Governing Body has
decided not to consolidate the NHS Greenwich Charitable accounts with that of the CCG.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
Management has assessed there are no source of estimation uncertainty
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1.22

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2020-21, and the government implementation
date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
● IFRS16 - The CCG has commenced the assessment of the application of IFRS 16 to its financial statements. This commenced with work to identify
leases which are currently operating leases and should be reclassified as finance leases as well as a broader review of recurring expenditure streams
where right to use assets may be embedded in contracting arrangements. The work has progressed to March 2020, when the CCG revised it
operational priorities and working patterns to deal with the COVID19 pandemic and combined with the decision to defer the implementation of IFRS16
in the NHS to 1 April 2021 means that it has not been practical to complete this work or present it for audit. The work to identify the impact of this
standard is expected to recommence in Autumn 2020.”
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income
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2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

6,134
484
6,618

6,058
643
6,701

19
19

20
20

6,638

6,721
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3.1 Revenue - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

Other Contract
income
£'000

4,240
1,894
6,134

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
6,134
6,134
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484
484

Other Contract
income
£'000
484
484
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Other
£'000

3,628
429
699
6
4,762

4.1.1 Employee benefits

2019-20

549
0
0
0
549

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,429
427
360
5
4,221
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Total
£'000
4,177
429
699
6
5,311

2018-19

Other
£'000
794
0
0
0
794

Total
£'000
4,223
427
360
5
5,015
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2019-20

Permanently
employed
Number
Total

Other
Number

66.15

Total
Number
73.24

7.09

2018-19

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

70.80

Total
Number
80.48

9.68

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2019-20
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2018-19
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
4,086
3
58,921
1
51,866
5
114,873

-

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
2018-19
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

-

Number

Number

2019-20
Total
2018-19
Total
1
3
1
5

£

£

4,086
58,921
51,866
114,873

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Agenda for ChangePay scheme.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and
Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning
group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 2019/20, NHS CCGs
continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full
cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March
2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the
valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5. Operating expenses

2019-20
Total
£'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only)
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2018-19
Total
£'000

3,459
133,110
164,311
82,002
31,332
38,217
1,425
1,070
73
516
0
865
56
27
7
231
43
40
456,784

2,949
125,011
156,327
76,021
29,871
37,445
1,448
1,229
460
885
12
673
54
28
192
31
100
432,736

114
114

302
302

-

-

425
34
104
563

365
19
111
495

457,461

433,533

In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation
Agreements) Regulations 2008 , the CCG is required to disclose the limit of its auditors liability. The contract signed
states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence, or otherwise) shall in
no circumstances exceed £2,000k, aside from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect
of all services. The audit fee disclosed above excluding VAT is £46,900.
CCG will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported compliance with the requirements of
the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG has accrued for £6k in relation to this work to be completed, however,
the final fee is yet to be confirmed.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
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2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

8368
8299
99.18%

130,373
129,610
99.41%

8710
8563
98.31%

122,893
121,628
98.97%

3874
3866
99.79%

310,857
310,363
99.84%

3685
3616
98.13%

285,134
283,383
99.39%
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
NHS Greenwich CCG paid £160k as rent for the Woolwich Centre for a 10 year lease which expires in 2025.
NHS Greenwich CCG paid £24k as rent for the X-ray machine at Eltham Hospital for a 10 year lease which expires in 2024.
NHS Greenwich CCG paid £17k for photocopier rental for leases that expire in 2020.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£'000
160
160

Buildings
£'000
160
642
94
896

2019-20
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

Buildings
£'000
201
201

41
41
2019-20
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
23
78
101

160
160

Buildings
£'000
183
720
94
997

160
642
255
1,057

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

176
176

16
16
2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
-

In 201819, the CCG was in the process of reviewing its lease for the X-Ray Machine at Eltham Hospital. This review has been completed with the lease
commitment confirmed and this is reflected in the 1920 accounts
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£'000
1,008

Plant &
machinery
£'000
13

Information
technology
£'000
583

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
591

Total
£'000
2,195

1,008

13

583

591

2,195

Depreciation 01 April 2019

151

13

420

577

1,161

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2020

41
192

13

60
480

14
591

115
1,276

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

816

-

103

-

919

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2020

816
816

-

103
103

-

919
919

Owned

816

-

103

-

919

Total at 31 March 2020

816

-

103

-

919

2019-20
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020

Asset financing:

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
Information technology
Total
8.2 Economic lives

2019-20
£'000

77
77

Minimum
Life (years)
25
3
3
3

Buildings excluding dwellings
Plant & machinery
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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2018-19
£'000

77
77

Maximum
Life (years)
25
3
5
3

NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2019-20
9.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

1,959
2,279
24
349
869
813
(68)
4
8
6,237

Total current and non current

6,237

9.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

9.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2019
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Balance at 01 April 2020
9.4 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

Current
1 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
Greater than 90 days
Total

2019-20
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
652
26
324
1,002

2,919

2019-20
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
324
530
854

Trade and other
receivables Non DHSC
Group Bodies

Total

£'000

£'000

(33)
(35)
(68)

2019-20

Current
2018-19
£'000

2
4
7
11
24
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-

9,156

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
1,001
440
516
1,957

2019-20

Gross Carrying
Amount
£'000

2,818
1,914
470
466
3,398
65
(33)
56
3
9,156

2018-19
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
213
27
191
431

(33)
(35)
(68)

2019-20

Lifetime
expected credit
loss rate
%

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

15
28
284
12
530
869

Lifetime
expected credit
loss
£'000

1
11
5
51
68

2018-19

2018-19

Lifetime expected
credit loss rate

Gross Carrying
Amount

%

£'000

2
4
7
11
24

15
73
4
135
218
445

2018-19
Lifetime
expected
credit loss
£'000

1
9
23
33
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10 Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20
£'000

16
213
229

2018-19
£'000
141
(125)
16

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

229
229

16
16

Balance at 31 March 2020

229

16

Balance at 01 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020
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Current
2019-20
£'000

11 Trade and other payables
NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

3,254
4,333
5,757
10,413
56
55
9,534
33,402

Total current and non-current

33,402

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000
-

11,059
33
60
12,949
7,672
64
62
8,155
40,054
40,054

Other payables include £267.5k outstanding pension contribuionts at 31 March 2020; 31 March 2019 £269.9k

138

Non-current
2018-19
£'000
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12 Financial instruments
12.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
12.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
12.1.2 Interest rate risk

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
12.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
12.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
12.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit,
liquidity or market risk.
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12 Financial instruments cont'd
12.2 Financial assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000

1,959
24
1,169
229
3,381

1,959
24
1,169
229
3,381

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000

599
16,856
15,837
33,292

599
16,856
15,837
33,292

12.3 Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2020

13 Operating segments
NHS Greenwich Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has one segment, which is commissioning healthcare services.
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14 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

The CCG has one joint operation interest in respect of the Better Care Fund
pooled budget with the Royal Borough of Greenwich (RBG).
The tabulation below identifies the budget and expenditure by both parties for
2018/19 and 2019/20.

Budget
Royal Borough of Greenwich
Greenwich CCG
Total Budget

2019-20
£'000
10,935
9,265
20,200

2018-19
£'000
10,057
9,040
19,097

Expenditure
Royal Borough of Greenwich
Greenwich CCG
Total Expenditure

10,934
6,866
17,800

10,057
6,740
16,797

2,400

2,300

Budget Less Expenditure
Debtors
Greenwich CCG

-

4,657
4,657

Creditors
Royal Borough of Greenwich

-

4,657
4,657
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15 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2019-20
Payments to
Related Party
£'000

Astra Zeneca UK - Krishna Subbarayan
BLACKHEATH PMS - Janakan Ratnarajan
Conway PMS - Ranil Perera
Hurley Clinic - Anuj Chaturvedi
Metro Centre Ltd - Greg Ussher
Sherard Road Medical Centre - Krishna Subbarayan & Vijay Sivapalan
St Marks Medical Centre - Vivienne Chai
Triveni PMS - Anuj Chaturvedi
University Of Greenwich - Greg Ussher
Vanbrugh Group Practice - Dr Jasiun Vivekanadaraja/E Wright
Thamesmead Medical Associates - Sabah Salman & Eugenia Lee
Burney Street PMS Dr Sylvia Nyame

Receipts from
Related Party
£'000

2018-19

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£'000

Amounts due from
Related Party
£'000

Payments to
Related Party
£'000

Receipts from
Related Party
£'000

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£'000

Amounts due from
Related Party
£'000

-

(5)

-

-

-

(28)

-

-

790
558
984
20
1,659
982
1,093
12
2,020
1,847
-

-

69
12
13
14
-

(21)
(17)
(9)
(13)
-

756
504
914
20
1,603
1,344
1,023
7
2,022
1,867
1,664

-

89
35
1
113

(7)
(1)
(13)
(21)
(222)
-

The GPs individually named as above are clinical commissioners on the Governing Body
The payments above are not made to the individuals themselves but to their General Practice for clinical services commissioned by the CCG. These payments to the GP Practices exclude
funding for prescribing.
2019-20
Payments to
Related Party
£'000
Eltham Medical Practice - Nurpur Yogarajah & Adebisi Olunloyo
Greenwich Health Ltd - Ram Aggarwal
Maritime Doctor LLP - Ram Aggarwal
Plumstead Health Centre - Ram Aggarwal
London LMC - Dr Tuan Tran (LMC Greenwich)
Valentine Health Centre - Dr Tuan Tran
Eltham Park Surgery - Dr John Livingstone

2,394
452

Receipts from
Related Party
£'000

2018-19

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£'000

(29)
-

33
18

Amounts due from
Related Party
£'000
-

Payments to
Related Party
£'000

Receipts from
Related Party
£'000

2,122
1,954
1,559
98
3,040
630

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£'000

(28)
(12)
-

27
-

Amounts due from
Related Party
£'000
(48)
(3)
(7)

The GPs individually named as above served as a clinical representative on one of the CCG's committees during 2019-20

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
The NHS organisations listed below are those where transactions over the year 2018-19 and/or 2019-20 have exceeded £500k:
Barts Health NHS Trust
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
Guys St Thmas NHS Foundation Trust
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Lewisham And Greenwich NHS Trust
Lewisham Hospital NHS Trust
London Ambulance NHS Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

NHS North East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS Southwark CCG
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
South London And Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Property Services

A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each CCG that the Risk-Share agreement would be enacted in 2019/20 with the relevant values included in start budgets. Each CCG governing body formally approved
the transfer of resource. The final revenue resource limit values included in the 2019/20 annual accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement.

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Transactions with other Government Departments over the year 2019/20 which have exceeded £500k:
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16 Events after the end of the reporting period
NHS Greenwich CCG was dissolved on 31 March 2020 having merged with NHS Bexley CCG, NHS Bromley CCG, NHS Lambeth, NHS Lewisham and NHS Southwark CCG to establish NHS South East London CCG ( new entity CCG) with
effect from 1 April 2020. This followed approval by the NHS England Assurance and Development Committee in 18th October 2019.
The merger of CCG's within the NHS England 'group' is regarded as a 'transfer of function'. The DHSC Group Accounting Manual directs that such changes should be accounted for as a 'transfer by absorption'. The new South East London
CCG will recognise the assets and liabilities received as at the date of transfer (1 April 2020) after taking into account inter company transactions.
The estimated financial effect of the merger is set out in the table below:
Greenwich CCG
£'000s
919

Property, Plant and Equipment as at 31 March 2020
Intangibles as at 31 March 2020
Inventories as at 31 March 2020
Cash and cash equivalent as at 31 March 2020
Receivables as at 31 March 2020
Payables as at 31 March 2020

-

229
6,238
33,402

Provisions as at 31 March 2020
General Funded balance at 31 March 2020

-

26,016

Bexley CCG
£'000s

-

668
153
2,758
27,742

126
24,289

-

Bromley CCG
£'000s
291
42
28
11,168
34,319

-

-

233
23,023

-

Lambeth CCG
Lewisham CCG
Southwark CCG
£'000s
£'000s
£'000s
316
88
190
62
191
150
6,773
9,381
6,736
45,025 41,475 47,786
560
38,434 -

31,815 -

172
40,882

17 Losses and Special Payments
NHS Greenwich made no losses or special payments in year.
18 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG has delivered all of its Financial Performance Targets for 2019/20 as is reported in the above table. In particular the CCG has delivered an in-year underspend against its total revenue budget of £3.666m. This is £66,000 over and
above the control total for the year.
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2019-20
Target
466,439
459,801

2019-20
Performance
462,773
456,135

2018-19
Target
438,956
74
432,161

2018-19
Performance
438,622
74
431,827

-

-

-

-

6,350

5,756

6,161

6,128
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